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Monday, September 8, 2015
--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Colin, put us on the air, please.

Good morning, everyone.  This is the technical conference for the Union and Enbridge application 2015-0166-0175.  My name is my Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  With me today are Colin Schuch and my newish colleague in the legal department, Ian Richler.  Ian and I will be sharing responsibilities for this file.

Just while we're getting set up, why don't we go through the room with appearances?  Mr. Keizer, will you start us off?


Appearances:


MR. KEIZER:  Charles Keizer, here on behalf of Union Gas Limited, and with me is Mark Kitchen and Karen Hockin from Union Gas.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. QUINN:  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.

MR. ROSS:  Murray Ross for TransCanada, and with me is Matthew Ducharme and Lisa DeAbreu.

MR. YAUCH:  Brady Yauch with Energy Probe.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken, London Property Management Association.

MR. WOLNIK:  John Wolnik for APPrO.

MR. GARNER:  Mark Garner, consultant with VECC.

MR. STEVENS:  And David Stevens with Enbridge.  With me is Joel Denomy.

MR. MILLAR:  And on the phone?

MR. DeROSE:  Vince DeRose on behalf of CME.

MR. MILLAR:  Anyone else on the phone?

Okay.  I think everybody knows the routine, so we can get started in a moment.  We are, of course, just members of Board Staff and not a Board Panel.  So if there are disagreements about the scope of questions or answers, we'll do our best to resolve them in the room, and if we can't, people know their remedies.

Mr. Keizer, are you ready to introduce your panel?
UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1

Greg Tetreault

Chris Shorts

Jason Gillett


MR. KEIZER:  Yes, we are, Mr. Millar.

If I may, what I would do is ask each member of the panel to introduce themselves by name and title, starting first at Mr. Tetreault, who is closest to me.

MR. TETREAULT:  Greg Tetreault.  I am the manager of accounting and finance support.

MR. SHORTS:  Chris Shorts.  I'm the director of gas supply and customer support.

MR. GILLETT:  I'm Jason Gillett, manager of transportation acquisition.

MR. KEIZER:  We do not have any kind of preliminary matter or any other aspects to deal with at the outset.  So we would make the panel available for questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.  I should have noted just for clarity of the record that this is Union's panel that's appearing first, and then Enbridge will come after.

Mr. Quinn, would you like to start us off?
Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Good morning, panel.  I know all of you.  I'm Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.  And I wanted to start at a high level.  I thought Mr. DeRose sometimes does that better than I do, but I would like to start with Exhibit A, page 19, which are your gas supply planning principles.

Now, you folks know these principles better than I.  We have seen them around for a few years, and I understand they guide Union Gas's approach in this area.

But sometimes in being familiar, I don't always read through it carefully, and yet I read through it carefully again in the context of this proceeding.  I was really surprised when I reread it that it didn't say anything about cost or economy.  Can you help me where cost or economy fit in these principles?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  If you look at the sentence or two ahead of that, Mr. Quinn, it says:

"The principles ensure customers consistently receive secure, diverse natural gas supply at a prudently incurred cost."

So they're really all designed to ensure that the portfolio is at a reasonable cost.

MR. QUINN:  And I did read that, sir, and I guess, Mr. Shorts, I'm -- when I read these holistically as the five principles, one of the outcomes I read Union is seeking here is economy or reduction in costs, prudently incurred cost.  But am I right to say that I don't read cost or economy in the actual five principles?

MR. SHORTS:  Cost is one of the overriding principles that lead to those five other principles, but all of them, in balance, will give us a reasonable cost.

MR. QUINN:  So as an overriding principle, does it trump these other conditions?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  No.  It's one of -- it's just one of the principles and one of the things we look at when making the decisions on what capacity to contract for.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  What I'm trying to do is, if you could help me, where do you create the balance?  From those principles, and when you blend in cost, how is the balance created?  Is cost -- prudently incurred cost and minimal risk, the -- are they the overriding principles that one through five are just outcomes -- these are ways of attaining the outcome of prudently incurred cost and minimal risk?

MR. SHORTS:  Basically when you look at the balance, all of them will provide a reasonable cost, and that's one of our overriding principles is to provide a reasonable cost.  It may not necessarily be the least cost.

A good example would be you wouldn't necessarily say that every year you would want to have the cheapest cost, because that could potentially mean that you wouldn't have any upstream portfolios.  There's some years in which Dawn would be the least expensive path or the least expensive option.  You wouldn't necessarily decontract everything you had in your portfolio just to maintain the least cost alternative, because that wouldn't be diverse.

MR. QUINN:  So that's your diversity aspect that's embedded in these principles that you're seeking to have both purchase gas in market and upstream supply alternatives?

MR. SHORTS:  Our portfolio tends to be heavily weighted towards having purchases in the basin, but we do also keep an amount to buy at Dawn to provide us flexibility.  That's usually in that 5 to 10 percent range each year.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, of course, there's been many questions asked in terms of the landed cost, and I guess trying to use the most up-to-date evidence, I think your landed cost assessment that would be found in LPMA 7 would probably be, in my view, the best place to start, and it has the most recent up-to-date costs.

I know that there is different versions of this, and I appreciate Union Gas has been helpful in providing different versions over time so that we can see the evolution, but I thought if we could just deal with the most recent.  And I think you refer to other interrogatories to this one.  Thank you.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we have it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So I wanted to start off with a clarifying question first.  Point of supply, Southwest Pennsylvania, PA, I've got that right?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Are you using Dominion South as that reference point?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we're using Dominion South point as that reference.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Is there any additional cost expected between Dominion South and Kensington?

MR. SHORTS:  When we first analyzed what point to use, when we consulted with various consultants as well as the suppliers, the suppliers recommended Dominion South point to be the proxy.

Their expectation was that over time, with all of the facilities that are being created within the Marcellus and Utica, that all the prices will tend to gravitate towards the Dominion South point price over time.

MR. QUINN:  Now, these are suppliers.  You went to suppliers for this.  You had consultants looking at this for you, did you not?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, we use -- these are based upon ICF, for example.  The traditional landed cost that we do is usually supported by the ICF numbers.

MR. QUINN:  Would you be able to ask ICF their opinion on whether Dominion South is an appropriate proxy for the Kensington price?

MR. SHORTS:  They were one of the consultants that suggested that's the point of reference we should use.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So it is not just suppliers.  You --


MR. SHORTS:  No.

MR. QUINN:  Your consultant also.  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  That's right.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I just -- I wanted to confirm that for the record, ICF -- that is ICF's opinion in this matter?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Okay.  Dealing then -- after understanding the material a little bit better, dealing with the resulting difference -- and again, this is small print, so we might have to scan across to the right.  But if I do the simple math here -- and I did this in the last proceeding and I was wrong, so I've got to get the panel to make sure I'm right -- 936 is the application landed cost for using Nexus; is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  And so 901 would be the difference in landed cost for Niagara being delivered at Kirkwall specifically?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, at the time this landed cost was run.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So that -- if, again, my math is correct, and you can take it subject to check -- that results in about $19 million a year, or $287 million over 15 years?  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. SHORTS:  Subject to check.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  One of the things I didn't see in here, and we’re going to -- I'm starting here, but it's almost like I want to -- you have put your proverbial finger on that tab, page 92, because we had asked about -- and we don't need to turn it up, because I have the reference here and you can choose whether you want to have it turned up or not, panel.

But we had asked about the landed cost to the north, and, first off, in an interrogatory, which is -- the reference is FRPO 9, should you want to turn it up -- we had asked about the distribution of the expected gas supply between the south and the north.  And the response was one-third of that supply is targeted for north customers.

I guess it is a miracle of modern technology.  There it is.  Oh, I'm sorry.  It is not.  I have the wrong reference.  My apologies, panel.

Mr. Shorts, do you recall one-third going to the north?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  The split is approximately two-thirds south, one-third north, yes.

MR. QUINN:  What I was trying to find and try to get to -- it is referenced in the preamble there.  I just noticed it -- but how did you come up with one-third in the north?  What were the analytics behind it?

MR. SHORTS:  We had basically looked at what our portfolio looked like currently, which was all supported by Western Canadian supplies.  And what we did was to look at what would be a reasonable portion to split for the Nexus portfolio.

The main two things in the south portfolio were the elimination of Alliance and elimination of one of the TransCanada contracts, so that essentially helped us to get to a 100,000 number, roughly speaking, for the south, and then the remainder being that for the north.

In addition to the 50,000 that we have, there's also 50,000 at Dawn, which we also show in the one pie chart.  So we do have not only the 50,000 for Nexus for the north, but there's also an additional almost 50,000 of Dawn, Dawn Supplies, that will be likely purchased there post-2017.

MR. QUINN:  That was helpful to understand the evolution, or -- I want to play it back to you and see if I've got this right.  You essentially determined what your needs were for the south, and that came to around 100.  So to get – and you didn't say this, so I will ask the question as opposed to making a supposition:  You wanted to take a minimum contract of 150,000 to get most favoured nation status?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.  We wanted to be an anchor shipper status, which would have guaranteed us the lowest possible rate as well as provided the most favoured nations.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  So you need about 100 for the south; you need about 150 to achieve that status.  The netting out was 50 for the north?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Did you do an economic analysis as to what the cost of that would be versus other options?

MR. SHORTS:  We did many an economic analysis on how moving the north to Dawn.  So if we look back at the Parkway projects, for example, the Parkway projects were all about the long haul to short haul switch, and that was where the economics were performed, getting back to Dawn.

It was really after that where we decided how would we then fill the northern portfolio, how much from Dawn, how much upstream of Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  And so this fitting of the pieces in the puzzle, so to speak, of 50 from Nexus, 50 additional from Dawn, is there analysis on the record in this proceeding, or are you saying it is all in the record of a previous proceeding?

MR. SHORTS:  It's really irrelevant to a certain degree because what we've already decided and was approved was our movement of from long haul, supported by the west, to short haul out of Dawn.  So we did that through our application in the Parkway projects, and we now are just looking at, now that we're at Dawn for the north, how could we then diversify their portfolio even more and create some additional diversity by going upstream of Dawn, albeit Nexus.

MR. QUINN:  It would be hard to call this a bottom-up or top-down because it sounds like you came at it from two different angles.  So I guess my specific question is – well, maybe I will ask the question up front:  The landed cost and which path is most economic would be dependent on the delivery area.  Would you agree with me?

MR. SHORTS:  The landed cost for, in this example, we've already made the decision that the north is going to be coming from Dawn.  So, therefore, it was really just a matter of analyzing and comparing the landed cost of volumes at Dawn or leading into Dawn or upstream of Dawn.  So that's what the landed cost analysis for the north is comparing, comparing Dawn versus the paths to get to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  And I understand that’s landed cost in this proceeding, and you've provided several analyses of that.  But what I didn't see and we asked for was a landed cost to the north.  Wouldn't you say that is a relevant consideration, given that your goal is to get prudently incurred cost?

MR. SHORTS:  We've already done the analysis that showed that long haul Western Canadian supplies were not going to be the most economic choice compared to Dawn.  So we made that choice when we then signed up for short haul capacity on TransCanada.  So now it's just a matter of determining whether or not Dawn or upstream of Dawn from a landed cost perspective.

MR. QUINN:  But you are still supplying part of the north from Empress?

MR. SHORTS:  We will be continuing to supply predominantly the western areas.  The northwest, the new northwest area, will be coming from Empress.

MR. QUINN:  Well, the proceeding that I think you referred to was the Brantford to Kirkwall and Parkway decompressor.  Is that where you're saying the analysis went that you were going to use Dawn versus the north?

MR. SHORTS:  The Parkway projects, I believe, which is the one you're referencing, was the application which we had sought approval for the contracts on TransCanada, the short haul contracts, that basically showed the switch or the conversion from long haul contracts to short haul contracts.

MR. QUINN:  And being part of that proceeding and not having an encyclopaedia memory or anything, I don't recall seeing an analysis that would suggest or would have broken out the cost for, let's say, what's the cost to the NCDA versus the NDA of landed cost.

Maybe what we can do to simplify this is you can undertake to provide that.

MR. KEIZER:  Can I just have a moment?  Thanks.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  I mean, our view is, no, we're not going to give the undertaking.  The issue is the determination has already been made that we would go from Dawn; the reference point is with respect to Dawn; and the determination to go from long haul to short haul at Dawn; and they were already done in consideration of those other proceedings.  Those proceedings are on the record and you're free to go have a look at those proceedings.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I'm hearing from the panel that the analysis was done in that proceeding, and yet I could not find it.

MR. KEIZER:  Well...

MR. QUINN:  So we are asking here for that information that's relevant to the decision that is in front of the Board at this point to be made available.

MR. KEIZER:  Why?

MR. QUINN:  Because Union has said that it is going to deliver 50 TJs to the north, and, therefore, it must be economic inside those gas supply principles, and I'm just saying, "Show us."

MR. KEIZER:  There are 50 TJs from the north, whether it is coming from Nexus or it’s coming from somewhere else, but it is coming from a reference point with respect to Dawn, which I believe is what the witness said.

MR. QUINN:  That's not consistent with what we asked.  We're asking for the cost analysis for the north, including the EDA, which should be -- and I don't recall specifically the EDA, because we're conscious of that in that proceeding.  I don't recall any analysis that did a landed cost analysis so that we could actually verify different delivery points.  To the extent that the supply reference point changes to Dawn is immaterial to where you actually source your gas, all due respect.

MR. KEIZER:  You have our answer.

MR. QUINN:  Any ideas on any process, Mr. Millar, or we take it out of this realm?

MR. MILLAR:  I think you know your remedy.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. QUINN:  Just, if I'm missing something, please assist.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So I guess if I break down the principles again -- and I didn't do this in conjunction with the question, but Principle No. 1 is ensure secure reliable natural gas supply to Union's service territory.

In this matter, you have choices of delivering it from Dawn or from the west.  You say you have made some preliminary -- well, you made decisions based in -- based upon applications to get TransCanada short haul contracts, but are you saying that, by delivering both from Dawn and from Empress, you're increasing the reliability of natural gas to those customers in the north?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  Absolutely.  We had gone through painstaking detail on the changing supply dynamics throughout the last number of applications, and what we have done is basically enhanced the security and reliability by adding diversity to the Union north, which the Union north did not have previously to -- previous to the settlement agreement, which allowed, then, for capacity to move into the north and the east, and certainly this application will show how, from our perspective, the incremental supplies coming into Dawn via Nexus will only add to diversity and liquidity at Dawn, which is, you know, frankly where customers want to be buying gas at.

MR. QUINN:  Now, you referenced "at Dawn," diversity and liquidity at Dawn, but I'm speaking specifically to secure and reliable natural gas supply to Union's service territory, and I'm reading the service territory to be your northern customers.

So specifically by providing gas, Dawn, Parkway, and through to the north, at the same time keeping gas flowing from Empress to the north, you're increasing your security of supply to those customers?  Do I have that right?

MR. SHORTS:  The security of supply, as we have noted in a number of scenarios here, is enhanced through Dawn.  I mean, if you look at the scenarios that we have outlined with Dawn, the robustness with the multiple take-offs, loss of critical unit protection all the way through, the security is definitely enhanced through the holistic Union system.

Dawn has been the reference point and the place where people want to get to.  We have seen that through the Parkway obligation settlement.  We have Northern T service customers who want to get to Dawn.  Enbridge, Gaz Métro, their customers want to get to Dawn, and it is where the sellers, frankly, want to be at.  They want to sell at Dawn.

So it's definitely -- Dawn is where, from a security and diversity perspective, customers, ourselves, and suppliers want to be transacting at.

MR. QUINN:  And I think maybe where we're missing each other, sir, is the -- the words "natural gas supply" is in here, so you keep coming back to Dawn.  I'm asking more from a utility perspective and encouraging and maintaining system integrity.

So if I go to point 5, "deliver natural gas to various receipt points on Union Gas' system to maintain system integrity," would you agree with me that having gas coming from Dawn through Parkway to the north while maintaining gas from Empress on TransCanada's mainline is increasing your system integrity?

MR. KEIZER:  I think he has already answered the question.

MR. QUINN:  I'm sorry, sir.  He answered about Dawn.  I am asking about having two feeds into one pipe from either end, if that increases system integrity.  I think the answer is, fairly -- I'm fairly certain that that would be correct, but I haven't heard an answer to that specific question.

MR. SHORTS:  We are not severing the pipes leading from TransCanada into the east, north, and the NCDA.  Those pipes still exist.  We will still have a relatively small amount of capacity from Empress going into the new Northeast zone, which is the NDA, the NCDA, and the EDA, but, from our perspective, the greater security of supply results from having the diversity that Dawn would provide those northern customers in those delivery areas, and it is where they have, frankly, been asking to get to over the last number of years.

We have had a number of T service customers who have continuously asked us to provide them access to Dawn, and we've been able to do that.

MR. QUINN:  So the answer is yes?

MR. KEIZER:  I think you have his answer.

MR. QUINN:  I am going to loop back to my request from before, because this is -- this looks like Groundhog Day, but, in FRPO 9, we had asked about the cost consequences.

Are you seeking -- is Union seeking the relief for the cost consequences to the north in this proceeding or in the Dawn reference price proceeding?

MR. SHORTS:  We are requesting the relief for all of the Nexus capacity payments.  So the $715 million commitment, which would include both the north and south, is what we're seeking approval from in this application.

MR. QUINN:  And yet with the Dawn reference price and the changes going on, you're going to have different price mechanisms to get those costs to your customers in the north in the respective delivery areas; is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  We will be following what most people had also suggested was a good idea, to create a Dawn reference price that would be applicable to those delivery areas that are going to be predominantly supplied from Dawn, which would be Union south and the Union to Northeast.

MR. QUINN:  So in the Dawn reference price, you're going to be addressing the methodology of how you would allocate those costs?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, that's fair.  That's fair, Dwayne.  I mean, there's a number of approvals we're seeking in that application, a Dawn reference price.  There's cost allocation and rate design changes for the north.  So there is a whole plethora of items associated with that, but, yes, that's the proceeding where we're seeking all the, I'll say, the downstream impacts of the changes to the gas supply plan.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  Thank you, Mr. Tetreault.

So the methodology comes from the Dawn reference price proceeding, but the actual costs that will be input to that methodology would include Nexus costs; is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  Ultimately our gas supply costs will include all of the supply and upstream transport that we purchase.  And those costs will be recovered from the customers that we're purchasing those services for.

MR. QUINN:  So you're going to be asking the Board for approval of the cost consequences of these gas supply rates as they will be allocated through the methodology and whatever the Board approves for this Dawn reference price.  Why is it not pertinent to provide a landed gas cost analysis to demonstrate what the respective costs would be to the respective delivery areas?

MR. KEIZER:  Because this is about a proceeding to deal with the Nexus contract with respect to the delivery to Dawn.  That's what this is about.

MR. QUINN:  You are seeking preapproval of the cost consequences; is that correct?

MR. KEIZER:  Of this contract to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  To Dawn.  And the result is it has to be taken away and shared amongst your customers.  Am I correct?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  Ultimately, though, if they don't preapprove this contract, there won't be any sharing, so the concern here is the cost to get this gas to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  But what the Board approves here is not a price to Dawn, but what appears on the customers' respective bills, which will be a function of whatever the approved methodology is and the actual costs.

And in this proceeding you're seeking that the costs -- preapproval of the cost consequences.  And I would suggest to you that that is a very relevant consideration for this Board.

MR. KEIZER:  Not at this time.  And that's what -- our application isn't about that, and so we're not giving you that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

Okay.  Let's try to turn to system impact.  If you can start with FRPO 18, please.

Now, I really need to establish clarity first in this answer, and so forgive me if I take this slowly and piece by piece, because at different junctures in the past I thought I had clarity, but I don't clearly have it now.

We had asked the question, if an incremental gas supply was added for Union south, what additional Dawn-Parkway transmission facilities would essentially be.  It's in the other interrogatory.  I apologize.  But it is in 27 where they're freed up.

But starting with this answer, we have asked this question, and again Union has used the word "shifting supply from Dawn to Kirkwall."  So we appreciate that you -- I think we're on the same page there -- you would be landing 158 gJs per day at Kirkwall and not Dawn.  Do I have that part correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So reading on, it says "and transported to Park" -- if the 158 was shifted from -- I'm sorry.  I'm reading from 27.  That is my problem.

I don't want to confuse you, Mr. Shorts, so I want to make sure I have the right one.  I searched on FRPO 18, and it came up with 27, because it is embedded in there.  Thank you.

So 158 -- thank you for bringing it up on the screen -- 158 gJs per day is shifted from Dawn to Kirkwall as the delivery point.  Sixty-four, round numbers, 64,000 gJs of Dawn-Parkway capacity could also be transported without impacting the capacity shortfall at the Dawn-Parkway system.

Stopping there.  This is your 2017 peak day analysis.  Does it include these facilities that are in this -- sorry.  Does this include the facilities that are being applied for in the Dawn-Parkway 2017-2018 build?

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn.  I'll have to stop you there.  I couldn't find FRPO 27 in my binder because of the way that they're structured, but...

MR. QUINN:  Take your time, Mr. Shorts.  I came to 27 by looking for 18.

MR. SHORTS:  Well, when there are four different FRPO tabs, I -- okay.  I've got it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I was reading from the middle paragraph where the 158 gJs was shifted from a Dawn delivery point to a Kirkwall delivery point and subsequently transported to Parkway.  I was asking:  The 2017-2018 peak day analysis, did that include facilities that were expected to be in place as a result of the Dawn-Parkway 2017-2018 build?

MR. SHORTS:  That would be my expectation, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess I'm looking for some certainty, sir.  Is it in or is it out?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHORTS:  Again, I'm going to assume it's in.  But subject to check, we'll assume it is in.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  You'll get back to us then, if it's not?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Because then I was led to that by reading the next paragraph that said the switch of 158,000 -- sorry, I'm going to stick with that first paragraph.

The 64,000 of Dawn to Parkway capacity, that is incremental to the 158?  So a net of 230?  Sorry.  Bad math again here, but 222, approximately, TJs would then arrive at Parkway with the same facilities?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm not sure.  I'm not sure, Mr. Quinn.  We would have to double-check on that one.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I am heading towards an undertaking because I don't clearly understand this response.  And we did try to achieve it in the earnings sharing mechanism; we were trying to understand this impact, and we were not able to get clarity.

So what I would like to ask in this case here is that Union provide the answer with and without the compressors that are added in the 2017 Dawn-Parkway project as referenced in that third paragraph.

MR. SHORTS:  My understanding, Mr. Quinn, is that, regardless of whether that 158 was at Kirkwall or whether it was delivered at Dawn, it would not impact the facility set and the compression that was being required to meet the 2017 needs.

MR. QUINN:  And I understand that's what that paragraph says, Mr. Shorts, but I am asking for it to be run with and without and for confirmation of what the additional gas supply would be at Parkway as a result of that shift.

Sorry, when I say gas supply, I am going to use more specific terms.  The ability to deliver gas to Parkway, what the incremental ability to deliver gas to Parkway on a peak day in 2017-2018 would be with this shift that we had asked for.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can I just ask you:  I'm not accepting or rejecting the undertaking.  I just want to make sure we understand it and it is clear on the record.  So could you just kindly state it again because there have been a number of different things that you said.  So let's just be clear what the undertaking you’re asking for is.

MR. QUINN:  We are requesting Union to do its 2017-2018 peak day analysis with and without the 2017 Dawn-Parkway project using a 158 incremental supply at Kirkwall and not from Dawn and give us the results of what capacity is available at Parkway for re-delivery downstream on those peak days.

MR. KEIZER:  Just let me have a moment.

I guess one thing we wanted to clarify:  You've asked for it without the facility, and I guess what we're trying to understand is why you need to understand that in the context of this Nexus approval, and in light of the application seeking the Dawn-Parkway facility.

So I am not quite clear on -- as to why it's without and what relevance it has to this proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  In this case, you're asking for the gas to come to Dawn.  But as we've just discussed a short while ago, that gas, some of it is targeted for the north. Therefore it needs to get through Dawn-Parkway facility and if it has to go through Dawn-Parkway facility, how is it going to do that and does that create incremental build.

Now, you have answered it does not, but I don't have clarity in the answer.  And if I give you a view ahead and if you want this for consideration, if you go to FRPO 27, it says the shortfall would be 92,000, not 64,000.

So I think the -- we do not have clarity.  We don't have consistency in the answers, nor do we have clarity in terms of what facilities were in or out.

And that's what I'm seeking, sir.  So I thought, if we put it into one undertaking where you do the analysis with the facilities in and out, and to be very specific, which I was going to ask for in this case, is to then remove the one compressor you talk of in your answer in FRPO 27.  Then we have a sensitivity analysis as to what the impact would be on the Dawn-Parkway facilities.

MR. KEIZER:  We're going to actually just reserve on whether we give that undertaking.  We're going to look at it at the break and we will be able to...

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's fair enough, sir.  I appreciate that not all of your staff are here.

Okay.  Well, I am going to continue on this line of questions, and to the extent, Mr. Keizer, that you prefer to -- well, it's probably best you have it in front so you can ask your questions of the same folks, because these are facilities questions.  I didn't know who your panel was, but I maybe incorrectly assumed there would be somebody on the facilities side.

But I want to carry on this line of questions, and you can take them, answer them, or reserve on them as you so see fit.

My question, then, would extend from that.  After the 2017-2018 peak design, our question is:  With the result of what you get, will it have an impact on your proposed 2018 build?

MR. KEIZER:  We will consider that in the conjunction with whether we will give the other undertaking as well.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm going to shift a little bit.  I might come back to the facilities, but I'm asking about the cost implications.  And I think, Mr. Tetreault, we're thankful for his participation.

So even if the facilities don't change, does the shift of gas deliveries from sales customers from Parkway to Kirkwall cause fewer direct purchase – well, actually fewer system costs to be allocated to customers in the Union's cost study?  In other words, if additional capacity were freed up and could be utilized by Union for additional contracting between Kirkwall and Parkway, would that result in lower costs being visited upon in-franchise customers?

MR. TETREAULT:  Dwayne, I may need you to repeat that.  I am not sure what you're asking me.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I appreciate your seeking clarity.

In the event that there is an impact -- which there is; it is just a case of how much -- what you would have is the ability to use additional Dawn-Parkway or specifically Kirkwall to Parkway capacity potentially for the benefit of ex-franchise contracts.

With that type of shift, would that not result in a reduction in costs for in-franchise customers because of Union's cost study methodology?

MR. TETREAULT:  So there is some hypotheticals in your premise.  Let me try to be helpful this way.

If, talking in cost allocation terms, if the -- if either the distance-weighted design day demands for ex-franchise customers increased or -- for whatever reason, or the distance-weighted design day demands for in-franchise customers decreased, I would expect that that would reduce the Dawn to Parkway costs that are allocated to in-franchise customers.

MR. QUINN:  And that's a helpful answer, sir, because it shone a little light on it for me.

All of your costs for Dawn-Parkway costs are allocated with the presumption of distance away from Dawn; is that not correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  For the transmission system itself, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  And system customers, to the extent that there are -- sorry, and I want to use the correct words here -- to the extent in-franchise customers deliver at Parkway as part of the Parkway delivery obligation, that tends to reduce the costs for in-franchise customers; is that not correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  It does; that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  So how would you deal with additional deliveries at Kirkwall inside of that methodology?

MR. TETREAULT:  Hypothetically, I think you would deal with it in the same way.  You would look at the deliveries at Kirkwall in much the same way we look at the deliveries today at Dawn and Parkway, and you would calculate the distance the demands have to travel from that point to one of the dozen or so laterals along the Dawn to Parkway system.

MR. QUINN:  Would your presumption be that the gas would flow east from Kirkwall on your design day for that methodology?

MR. TETREAULT:  I am not the one to answer that, Mr. Quinn.  I don't know.

MR. QUINN:  Who would be the one to answer that?

MR. KEIZER:  This is all hypothetical.  I don't quite understand, like, where we're going.  We're kind of creating a bit of a fiction here, aren't we, in terms of --


MR. QUINN:  Sir, it is -- and you are very well aware it has been demonstrated to be feasible in other proceedings.  This is -- Union is looking for the cost consequences -- preapproval of the cost consequences of this contract.
We -- I believe it is incumbent the Board would want to look at what alternatives were considered and what the implications would be on in-franchise customers.  This is one such implication.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess, in my mind, you are creating a whole series of hypotheticals here of adding on various things which don't appear in the evidence, quite frankly, maybe people have not considered or thought about with respect to, and whether you're actually leaving out aspects that could be going the other way.  So I think it is a bit of an unfair question because you are building a premise which is really designed around one area.  You're not considering all aspects potentially, and that is my concern.

MR. QUINN:  You may be concerned about it, and yet this is a technical conference.  We're trying to understand these cost consequences.  And this is a relevant consideration because your delivery point has now shifted from Dawn to a point considerably east of that.  For decades, Union has brought in gas at Parkway, and that has brought benefits to in-franchise customers.  We're trying to understand how Union would assess this potential benefit for in-franchise customers.

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, can I inject a little bit of reality into this conversation?   Right now we are seeing that the Niagara to Kirkwall capacity is essentially sold out.  That delivery mechanism is already developed.  Union partook 20,000 back at the first -- one of the first shippers to contract there, but going forward, there is no more available capacity, and our understanding is that any significant number, much like this 150, would require some significant infrastructure to be developed.

We've talked about many a time the challenges on liquidity around Niagara purchases.  So from the perspective of whether it is deliveries at the east end of the system, many of our customers and ourselves, we have worked away from having deliveries coming in at the east end of our system because of customers' desires not to be obligated there.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Sorry, I appreciate the Union's perspective on that, which at times we may disagree with, but specific to the cost allocation question, again our view is it is a relevant consideration for this Board.

So I guess I want to formally request Union take an undertaking to provide what the impact would be using its cost-allocation methodology of shifting the 158 gJs to Kirkwall as a delivery point as opposed to Dawn.

MR. KEIZER:  We're not providing that undertaking.

MR. QUINN:  Even with the -- you can add your caveats to it.  You're not prepared to provide that to the Board?

MR. KEIZER:  No.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Then since we can't deal with factual rate-making, what I do want to ask is, if additional capacity were created -- notwithstanding that Mr. Shorts and I would maybe not agree on the feasibility of such a situation -- if additional capacity were created and it was used for M12 or C1 service, would that not have the potential of having a positive in-franchise ratepayer impact?

MR. KEIZER:  We're not -- we have already answered this question, and Mr. Shorts has already answered the question in terms of what the factual reality is.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I don't think the Board has determined anything.  I know that is Union's view, but we're still asking the question.  So I will ask the last question.

The Parkway -- if you had additional capacity freed up, even if it does not replace the need for a compressor, would that impact have the potential to impact and reduce your Parkway delivery obligation?

MR. KEIZER:  We're taking the same position with respect to that question as well.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

Okay.  If I could ask you to turn up FRPO 3.  Now, this interrogatory -- thank you -- just to frame it, was graphing the percentage of annual gas received to the Union Gas South Transmission System at various points, and you provided a summary of that.

We had a brief discussion before, Mr. Shorts, and possibly we have the risk of getting into argument.  So maybe if I could ask it this way here:  Does Union know what percentage of gas -- I guess maybe this would end up being a factual or arithmetic exercise which I can undertake myself.

My question, I guess, is, with the shift from western -- looking at the purple line visually, because it is hard to read the print, your shift from Parkway has gone from 48 percent in 2007 to 3 percent in 2017.

Now, you have said -- and I concur -- that customers have appreciated and desired to be at Dawn over time, but does that shift in gas from -- away from Parkway create any concerns from you from a system integrity point of view?

MR. SHORTS:  No, it does not, because it created large savings for the Union South portfolio to migrate away from that contract, the long haul contract from the west.  And given the robustness of Dawn, the loss of critical unit protection across the entire system, it does not cause us any concern.

MR. QUINN:  But you would agree with me you now have -- well, maybe I should back up and you can ask your facilities folks if that is what you need them to do at the break.

Is Parkway not the place that Union needs to get gas to in the winter?

MR. SHORTS:  Union has to get gas to all of the points on its system throughout the winter, and that is what its facilities set is designed to do.

MR. QUINN:  The control point for your winter transmission simulations, the control point is Parkway, is it not?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm not the transmission expert.

MR. QUINN:  Would you be able to ask them at the break?

MR. KEIZER:  We can try, and we can advise after the break as to whether we were successful or not.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Is there a reason that Union didn't bring a facilities person to this panel, a facilities-planning person?

MR. KEIZER:  It's not a facilities case.  It's with respect to an application to approve a contract relating to Nexus.  It is not about the construction of facilities upstream, as you've described.

MR. QUINN:  I thought there had to be a pipe built upstream here, sir?  That's what you're applying to have the cost consequences for.  So where there is infrastructure built upstream and/or downstream, there are facilities matters involved.

MR. KITCHEN:   Mr. Quinn, you were a participant in both the 2015 Dawn Parkway proceedings and the 2016 Dawn Parkway proceedings.  Both of those proceedings dealt with gas cost savings associated with going from long haul to short haul.  What we're doing here, as Mr. Shorts said, is now filling that need at Dawn with the Nexus contract.  That ship has sailed.

MR. QUINN:  Well, the facilities for 2016 has, sir, and I know 2017 is still in front of us.  So I will move on, but I will ask if you could undertake --


MR. KITCHEN:  2017 is there to meet ex-franchise demands.

MR. QUINN:  And those demands met at Parkway; correct?  Which is my point.  So I am trying to ask facilities questions related to those delivery capabilities at Parkway.

MR. KITCHEN:   Then ask them in the facilities proceeding.  What we're here for is to get approval of a contract to bring gas to Dawn.  That's all.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, we're just trying to ensure the Board understands this holistically, and we're struggling to get there, so I will move on.

Okay.  If you could turn up FRPO 7.  Now, you have answered the question, and, notwithstanding our differences on the cost allocation, this is a gas supply matter.  So what I would like to ask, because we may have to do some math ourselves, is what the summer base load is at the respective Union EDA, Union NDA, and Union CDA areas.  That is a factual question.  Is that something we can get as an undertaking?

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. RICHLER:  Call that undertaking J T1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  UNION To advise what the summer base load is at Union EDA, Union NDA, and Union CDA areas

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  If, then, I could ask you to turn up Board Staff 12, please.  Do you have that?  I'm sorry.  I'm waiting for Mr. Tetreault.

MR. SHORTS:  We have that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  This was a helpful interrogatory asked by Board Staff in terms of the forecasted quantity of upstream contracts.  And, of course, for 2015 -- which is certainly in play for this winter, there seems to be a considerable completion of the table.

However, the winter of -- now, I want to make sure -- maybe I should do this first off -- is make sure I am reading this right.

Does 2015 apply to 2015-2016, or is that January 2015?

MR. GILLETT:  They're all at November 1 of that year.

MR. QUINN:  So at November 1.  So that would be the 2015-2016 year, Mr. Gillett?

MR. GILLETT:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So 2016, if I could ask you to turn your attention to 2016, obviously there is the elimination of the Alliance Pipeline contracts, and the term was 84, and that is covered elsewhere in the evidence.

And in carrying on down, I didn't try to reconcile all the math, but there is an uncommitted pipe to be determined.  Could you help us with the process Union would be going through to seek – well, first to acquire the transport, and I will ask questions after that.

MR. SHORTS:  Union, once the gas supply plan for that particular season is complete, we would then look at our various alternatives that were available in the marketplace.  What capacities were available?  At what cost.  And then we would, internally, make a proposal that would best fit our needs, and then that -- that capacity would be included within the gas supply memorandum that would be then filed for the September/October time period.  And then the specifics of the contracts that filled that would be also within the following deferral account proceeding in the following spring.

MR. QUINN:  I want to break that -- thank you.  That is helpful to see the whole process.

First off, your internal approvals, what goes into making those recommendations?  What considerations does Union make beyond the landed gas and cost analysis?  I assume that is one of the many factors?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  The landed cost analysis is one of the factors, but we would look at all of the principles.  We would look at the diversity, predominantly, to see where we needed capacity on the system, et cetera.  So all the -- all of the principles would come into play when we were looking at each year, how we would fill that capacity, if we actually filled that capacity.

MR. QUINN:  You do need some of it, though.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, we need all of the gas, but we could theoretically maintain it all at Dawn and purchase it all at Dawn rather than going upstream and purchasing it on a specific pipeline or transportation route from a basin.

MR. QUINN:  But you said earlier that only 5 to 10 percent of your gas supply is at Dawn.

MR. SHORTS:  Well, that's traditionally where we tend to be, but it can vary year to year, plan to plan.

MR. QUINN:  But if you did that, sir, would that not impact your assets?  Your Dawn to Parkway?  Your ability to deliver?  If you land all of your gas at Dawn, does that not impact your asset utilization?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, for Union South, we would -- predominantly are comparing to Dawn.  So if you look at whether it is Vector, whether it is Panhandle, et cetera, it's about getting that capacity to -- and that gas to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  And maybe that's – understandably, you have your gas supply hat on.  But when you're looking at the system as a whole and the cost consequences to Union Gas and its customers, do you not -- does part of your analysis not take into account asset utilization?

MR. SHORTS:  From a gas supply perspective, we're looking at a gas supply plan that meets our customers' needs at a prudent and reasonable cost.  And that is what we base our decisions on, both buying at Dawn and any upstream of Dawn purchases.

MR. QUINN:  But you would at least have to go to facilities planning and say, no matter what way -- hypothetically, no matter which way we do the analysis, Dawn is looking like the point to buy.  Is this acceptable?  Can we get the gas to where it needs to go?  You would have to check with them, would you not?

MR. SHORTS:  You have to remember, Mr. Quinn, our southern portfolio is designed to meet an average day.

So we meet the average day needs of Union South by purchasing the gas supply at as close to 100 percent load factor as we can.

So that has no impact on the downstream facilities.  The gas supply plan does not meet the peak day needs, for example, at Parkway.  It is designed to meet average day needs for Union South, and, therefore, we purchase average day requirements through the gas supply plan at Dawn or upstream of Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And that is helpful to understand, and I'm trying to ask this in a fair and reasonable fashion, but you still need to get the gas to Parkway in the winter.

Who -- do you just go to a recommendation internally and then present that to facilities planning and they -- and basically you know, to cut to the chase, "Hey, make this work.  This is where we're buying it.  Make it work"?  Or do you have any iterative approach, where you go back and forth with facilities planning to look at what the facilities impact is of your gas supply decisions?

MR. SHORTS:  If there is any requirement from a facilities perspective, then they will tell us that going into the preparation of the plan.  So they will tell us whether or not there's any requirement for us to change or buy anything, for example, at a different location.

MR. QUINN:  But those factors, they put constraints on, but there's no iterative process to optimize utilization of those assets based upon different gas supply decisions you can make in the short-term?

MR. SHORTS:  The transmission planning folks basically tell us if there is any constraints on whether we need to purchase the gas at anything other than average day at Dawn or upstream of Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's interesting.  I'm going to move, then, forward to you have made the recommendation it comes in the gas supply memo.  And I am going to return to that later, if I may, because I think I have your answer, but once you got an internal approval, you provided that to facilities planning; they make it work; and it becomes part of your gas supply memo.

MR. SHORTS:  No.  Facilities planning tells us if we need to do anything differently.  They do not need to know how we are purchasing that gas on an average day into Dawn. We basically do that on our own.  We know what is required upstream of Dawn or at Dawn.  There's no iteration back to facilities planning.  We make the recommendation, say, for example, to purchase 10,000 units on Pipeline A rather than buying that same 10,000 units at Dawn.  We would make that recommendation based upon our gas supply planning principles, and if it was internally approved, we would execute that contract with that transportation pipeline company.  It would then be part of our gas supply memorandum, and the specifics of that would also be included in the following deferral application, deferral application in the spring.

MR. QUINN:  So if you were to have a short-term opportunity to buy gas at Parkway, let's say, you would -- how would you cost that to make it a relevant comparator to Dawn?  Do you import a cost from Parkway back to Dawn so you're referencing both to Dawn?  Or do you ask facilities planning what the benefits would be of getting the gas at Parkway?

MR. SHORTS:  For example, for this scenario we are talking about Nexus, and from that contract's perspective we are also including the cost to move that gas from the St. Clair MichCon or DT connection to Dawn, so we include that 3.5 cents within the landed cost analysis, and we would include any of those upstream costs in that analysis to help us put everything on an even footing for comparison purposes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I appreciate the application is Nexus, but you have got a 2016 issue, and I am trying to understand how you manage that issue and what implications there are to how Union makes these decisions.

So in the 2016 process, if you were to get gas at Parkway from a discounted contract, let's say, would you measure the value of that gas at Parkway, or would you bring it back with a cost to Dawn?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I'm just trying to connect this to the application that we have in front of us.

MR. QUINN:  Well, because earlier, sir, we were asking about alternatives Union considered, and I'm trying to understand how Union values the asset utilization of the Dawn-Parkway system, and so this is relevant.  If the gas is -- if Union's only frame of reference is how do we get gas to Dawn, there seems to be a missing piece in the puzzle since Union owns the assets right through to Parkway, and there could be alternatives that are not being considered.

MR. KEIZER:  I think he answered your question as to what their planning process is, how they approach it, and the manner in which they bring about that consideration.  I think he has answered it, quite frankly, probably three times already.

MR. QUINN:  Actually, he hasn't asked (sic) this question about how he values gas at Parkway.  That's his specific question.  Does he value it back to Dawn, or is there an integrated component of what the value is to the system?

MR. KEIZER:  And I guess my question is I am trying to understand what that has to do with the approval of a 15-year contract with respect to Nexus.

MR. QUINN:  Because, sir, we do disagree whether there is an alternative or not, and we're trying to see how does Union value those alternatives in its internal and then eventually external process.

MR. KEIZER:  You started out saying it was just the 2016 year issue.  So what has that got to do with a 15-year contract?  I am still trying to bridge that gap.

MR. QUINN:  I am trying to understand the approval process as it has import into what we're doing here, sir, but I am going to move on and not get into argument.

If you could turn up FRPO 24, please.  This may help -- sorry, do you have it?

MR. SHORTS:  We have it.

MR. QUINN:  This may help the previous question.  In your response, Union has contracted for market-based service for 20,000 dekatherms per day from Dominion south to Dawn, beginning November 1st, 2015.  How does that service reach Dawn?  Where is Union's receipt point of that gas?

MR. SHORTS:  Union would be purchasing the gas at Dominion South Point, and it would be arriving at Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  How do you incorporate the cost consequences of the -- any increment between Dawn and Dominion South?

MR. SHORTS:  The supplier we have contracted for that service is charging us a transportation rate to move that gas from Dominion South Point to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  And what that is rate?

MR. SHORTS:  Approximately $1.25 U.S.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So it essentially is a seamless contract that is in place starting November 2015.  It's with one proponent?

MR. SHORTS:  It is with one supplier, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Supplier, okay.  So Union isn't really -- I will say it -- this is one supplier relationship you are entering into.  Is there a 2016 -- sorry.  This is a one-year contract beginning in November 2015.  Is Union contemplating having an RRFP for those needs for 2016?

MR. SHORTS:  Union hasn't decided how it will fill that 20,000 for 2016.  We will likely do that when our gas supply plan tells us what our demands are next spring and we go through the exercise to try to determine overall demand and then matching overall supply.

MR. QUINN:  But I guess I may be inferring something, because reading the evidence -- and so -- and maybe I've read this, Mr. Shorts.  But is this opportunity of delivering 20,000, plus or minus, to Dawn, is this not part of Union's strategy to try to build relationships with producers in the Appalachian region?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  It is one way to build the relationships that we have been working on for the last couple of years with producers that we would ultimately have a NAESB contract with.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So do those same producers also sell gas through Niagara?

MR. SHORTS:  There is a possibility.  I haven't done any kind of reconciliation between who is particularly selling gas at Dominion South Point, who we have a NAESB with as well as who is then also being able to supply at Niagara.

MR. QUINN:  So you don't know who supplies at Niagara?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, we do know who the transportation providers are.  We do know the three usual companies that -- suppliers that respond to our RRFPs on the 20,000, 21,000 gJs that we have contracted for since 2012.  We know those suppliers.

The one thing we do know is that, for example, predominantly shippers on Niagara are different than the shippers on Rover, are different than the shippers on Nexus.   So having three of those options develop will then enhance the deliverability, enhance the liquidity at Dawn, because we will have extra suppliers that would not be there if those projects did not exist.

MR. QUINN:  So how did you evaluate the 1.25 U.S. cost for landing that gas from Dominion South to Dawn as being a prudently incurred cost?

MR. SHORTS:  This particular supplier had been offering this service for a couple of years to us.  We had done landed cost analysis and couldn't make it work, but this past year we were able to get the landed cost in that realm of reasonableness.  And that is why we chose to go with it for this, if I want to call it pilot project, if you want to call it that, to try to gain some experience in the area.

MR. QUINN:  So what would be that realm of reasonableness?  What other alternatives did you consider?

MR. SHORTS:  We looked at all of the alternatives.

MR. QUINN:  For getting from Dominion South to Dawn?

MR. SHORTS:  We looked at alternatives of just getting an incremental 20,000 of gas into Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  And that was filed in your gas supply memorandum, I presume?

MR. SHORTS:  It will be included in the gas supply memorandum, but the specifics of it will be included in the deferral application that will be filed in April of 2016.

MR. QUINN:  I want to back up.  When did you enter into this contract?

MR. SHORTS:  Subject to check, April/May time period.  I can't recall exactly when we committed to that.

MR. QUINN:  But it wasn't included in your incremental gas contracting analysis?

MR. SHORTS:  No, because it doesn't come into effect until this November.  That incremental contracting analysis covers the contracts that started November 1 of 2014, not November 1 of 2015.  That was filed in the spring of this past year.

MR. QUINN:  So the only time the Board will get a chance to view that information in your gas supply memo would be part of the 2015 application, which will be filed in the spring of 2016?

MR. SHORTS:  It will be shown and discussed in the gas supply memorandum, but the specifics in the landed cost analysis, et cetera, will be included, as they always are, in the deferral application in April of 2016.

MR. QUINN:  So it's a retrospective review of decisions already made?

MR. KITCHEN:  Just to clarify, when you're referring to the gas supply memorandum, you're talking about the one that is going to be filed.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  The one that will be filed, yes.

MR. KITCHEN:   This September?

MR. SHORTS:  The one that will be filed this September.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Kitchen.  I thought I originally heard him say it would be next spring's earnings sharing.

MR. KITCHEN:   No.  The gas supply memorandum -- remember, if you recall, we moved the filing of the gas supply memorandum to be now included with the rate application.  So that will be sent, hopefully filed, mid‑September and will include the gas supply memorandum at that point.  The cost consequences, or the contract analysis, will show up in the deferral account proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  If that analysis is already done, could it not be provided now?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we could -- yes, it could.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If you would undertake to do that, we'd appreciate it, thank you.

MR. SHORTS:  So, just to be clear, you want us to include the landed cost analysis for the 20,000 market‑based service effective November 1 of 2015?

MR. QUINN:  But if you had to do it looking at other alternatives, it should also include the other alternatives, which, if you've already done the table, why wouldn't you just file the table?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, no.  I just wanted to be clear, because the table will include all of the existing and possible alternatives that were analyzed.

MR. QUINN:  And that's great.  That is what we would be looking for.  Thank you.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  UNION To include the landed cost analysis for the 20,000 market based service effective November 1 of 2015

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

Okay.  Now, there is a risk this might go on longer, but if we can turn up Staff 17, please.  Again, it was referenced a number of times throughout.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we have it.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Very bottom of page -- paragraph 3.

This may be semantics, but it certainly struck my ear incorrectly, and so I am looking for a definition.  You said -- last sentence says:
"Union Gas was the first consumer-based shipper to purchase gas and will be the only consumer-based purchaser until additional volumes start to flow in 2015." What do you define as consumer-based shipper?

MR. SHORTS:  An end user and not a producer or marketer.

MR. QUINN:  So Union as a utility would consider itself an end user?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So other utilities, then -- and that's I think what you were referring to as Enbridge in 2015 will begin to flow at Niagara?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Possibly this is something that is not relevant to your mind, but it does speak to experience:  Are you familiar if there is another utility in Ontario that has been shipping from Niagara since 2012?  [Witness panel confers]


MR. SHORTS:  Are you referring to KPUC?

MR. QUINN:  Utilities Kingston, that's correct.  It is in TransCanada's index of customers, so it is public information.

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  I am aware of that, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.   So I'm making that statement because it is relevant to something I am coming back to later on.  But clearly Union has got some experience, and Union understands the value of the Niagara market and hopefully will continue to value that opportunity.

If you could turn the page, then, to page 2 of that same response.  In the third paragraph, Union has said:
"It is Union's understanding that, with the current commitments, upstream pipelines that provide gas to Niagara are largely sold out."

Do you know what the remaining incremental capacity is, or would that be part -- was it included as part of that analysis you did for the 2015 purchase that we just -- you just undertook to provide?

I know there are two questions in there.  Do you want me to break it down?

MR. SHORTS:  First off, the purchase of the 20,000 in Dominion South Point would not have provided the same benefit that purchasing -- than purchasing at Niagara would have, because it would have continued to be the same three producers that tend to reply to RFPs.  It wouldn't have given us the experience that we are going to gain in Dominion South Point month to month buying from a different set of producers.

MR. QUINN:  Well, sir, and I appreciate that's what you're saying, but I am trying to understand how you came to that conclusion.  Did you assess what producers in Dominion South also flow through Niagara?

MR. SHORTS:  There will definitely be greater suppliers that are active at Dominion South Point than there will be at Niagara.

We have outlined the challenges that we have had.  Enbridge has outlined the challenges that they have had in buying gas at Niagara, which is a transshipment point.  It is not a liquid trading hub.  It does not possess the key trades to become a liquid trading hub.

MR. QUINN:  Maybe I should say it differently, and that might help you answer the question I was asking.

You're purchasing gas in Dominion south, 20,000 gJs.  There are suppliers that have different capacity, some of whom take their gas through to Niagara.

Did you look or did you talk with those producers or were they included in the RFP so you could do your assessment of your 2015 needs?

MR. SHORTS:  We did not do a RFP for this 20,000 of capacity, because our goal was to have the purchasing done in Dominion South Point with only those Dominion South Point shippers and providers that would ultimately also be at Kensington.

Those shippers may be at Niagara, but we don't know that for sure.  We do know the shippers that are transporting from Niagara into Ontario, and those shippers do not want to sell large incremental amounts of gas at either Niagara or Kirkwall.

They want to continue to get to Dawn and make their transactions there.  They want to have the benefit of the numerous counterparties that are at Dawn.  They do not want to sell gas at Niagara.

MR. QUINN:  But, sir, if you dealt with a producer who was willing to deal with you, Dominion South, and eventually through Kensington or eventually through Niagara, would that not have value to Union in terms of having a supplier that could provide to you at multiple points?

MR. SHORTS:  We buy supply at each point separately.  So whether or not Supplier A gives us an RFP response for gas supply at Dawn or whether they give it to us at Niagara, we would look at each one of those transactions individually.  We wouldn't say, "We're going to have all three with one supplier."  That's why we predominantly RFP all of those supplies on an ongoing basis.

MR. QUINN:  So in your assessment of who to deal with as a potential new counterparty at Dominion South, you don't look at the diversity of pipelines that they hold?

MR. SHORTS:  If they were -- if they would execute our NAESB contract, then they would be a supplier that would be part of the RFP process.

MR. QUINN:  So I guess part of that evaluation process, you don't evaluate the holdings of the producer to determine the flexibility that producer would have for Union to deliver at different points?

MR. SHORTS:  That would be a point.  But we wouldn't necessarily make any decision based upon that.  That's why we have over 100 suppliers that we have NAESBs with.

MR. QUINN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHORTS:  They all have different supply points.  They all have different characteristics.  They all bring various benefits.  Some are active in some basins; some are active in other basins.

MR. QUINN:  I guess I saw it as relevant consideration, but I understand your answer.

Getting back to the specific reference here, it says:
"Upstream pipelines that provide supply to Niagara are largely sold out."

Does Union know what capacity is remaining?

MR. SHORTS:  It is our understanding that we could not purchase, for example, 150,000 or anything large -- a large amount of capacity that, up to that 1.4 PJs, is sold out, and anything new would require significant infrastructure on the U.S. side.

MR. QUINN:  By 20,000, do you know if 20,000 is available through those producers?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't know if 20,000 is available through those producers.  All I do know is that we have had continuous challenges in trying to procure that supply at Niagara.

MR. QUINN:  Sorry --


MR. SHORTS:  We don't have price transparency.  We get quite dramatic price differences from all of our producers in particular months.  And, again, it's not a liquid trading point that we want to continue to buy large quantities of gas at.

MR. QUINN:  I'm going to ask my original question first, and then I will come back to your point.

I am talking about producers that could provide you gas upstream of Niagara, because that's the reference -- is in that paragraph is upstream pipelines that provide to Niagara are largely sold out.  So the context for my question was getting gas from those suppliers upstream of Niagara.

MR. SHORTS:  Again, we have been purchasing supply from the -- on Niagara.  We have been buying it on the Canadian side at Niagara.  And that has been a challenge for us.

MR. QUINN:  That's not the question I am asking, sir.  You say upstream.  So you can get back to potential locations like Dominion South with some of these suppliers.  Would you agree with me that some producers could have -- because it sounds like you don't have a number -- could have capacity that would bring the gas to Niagara however you would purchase it from them upstream?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHORTS:  The 20,000 that we were -- are contracting for is replacing gas that was coming into Dawn.  Our whole expectation was to get deliveries at Dawn and to fill that average day need at Dawn.  That's what we continue to do.  That gas volume that we're purchasing on a monthly basis at Dominion South Point will be delivered to Dawn.  And that's where we needed the gas to meet our average day needs.

MR. QUINN:  So you don't know if the 20,000 is available upstream of Niagara?  It wasn't considered?

MR. SHORTS:  It was -- part of our landed cost analysis would have showed what a Niagara purchase would have resulted in, and that will show on the landed cost analysis.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Keizer keeps telling me that I have your answer, so I am still searching for it in there.  Do you know if there is 20,000 incremental capacity upstream of Niagara from producers?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHORTS:  We basically already answered the question that, from our perspective, that the upstream is basically sold out, and the purpose of this exercise was to buy at Dominion South Point and gain access to suppliers that were supplying at Dominion South Point.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I will move on.  But I'm...

MR. MILLAR:  It is about eleven o'clock.  Would this be a suitable time for a break?

MR. QUINN:  I was actually considering that, Mr. Millar, but I have just one follow-up, because Mr. Shorts led into that area and it is fresh now, and then I'm talking about hopefully a three-minute question here.

MR. MILLAR:  Go ahead.

MR. QUINN:  You mentioned Niagara, about the challenges at Niagara.  Can you articulate what those challenges are, specifically?  I know you've said there is less producers.  Is it leading to an uneconomic cost of gas at Niagara?

MR. SHORTS:  The cost of our Niagara supply that we're buying today is economic.  We have had times in which the landed cost at Niagara certainly hasn't been the lowest cost in our portfolio, like many other suppliers.  The landed cost changes from year to year.  Change is based upon the term that you are looking to analyze it against.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Changes year to year.  Month-to-month changes?

MR. SHORTS:  It can change, yes, year to year, month to month, for -- absolutely --


MR. QUINN:  You have been flowing gas since 2012 at Niagara.  Can you provide the price at Niagara that you have received over the last three years on a monthly basis, so you can blend out whatever contracts you had for the monthly basis from 2012 and the price of gas at Dawn landed during that time?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, let me just take a moment.

We are not providing that undertaking.

MR. QUINN:  With respect, the witnesses have continued to say they have challenges buying at Niagara.  I'm asking for evidence to demonstrate what the result would be of those challenges.  To me -- and it would be important to us as ratepayers and I suspect to the Board -- cost is a relevant consideration to demonstrate the -- how much challenge has Union actually faced.

MR. SHORTS:  Again, we're trying --


MR. KEIZER:  No, I don't think that was the issue.  I think the witness has said the challenge they have at Niagara is the ability to actually buy the gas and because of the level of contracting that's already there.

So fundamentally you're trying to link everything back to price, and the witness has been very clear that it isn't just about price.  It's about the ability, the fact that every time they go out they face the same three suppliers, or they actually are coming from a less diverse, less liquid point than they are with respect to Dawn.

So you're trying to link it all back to some average landed cost number, and there is a whole other series of factors.

MR. QUINN:  Well, sir --


MR. KEIZER:  So the bottom line is, in my view, the question isn't relevant, and it is an apples-to-oranges question, and we are not going to actually provide the undertaking.

MR. QUINN:  Well, sir --


MR. KEIZER:  We are not providing the undertaking.

MR. QUINN:  -- three quotes is reasonable for most businesses.  You're getting three quotes.  The witnesses have tried to establish that there's problems because of the lack of liquidity and the number of suppliers.  I heard him say that.  The proof is in the pudding.

What are the results they have been achieving?  And if the monthly price is indicative, all it is, is an indication and chart that price or table that price versus the Dawn price for the same period where they have multiple suppliers.  We can see the respective costs at each location.

MR. SHORTS:  But, again, Mr. Quinn, you can't compare a purchase of 20,000 with a Nexus purchase of 150,000.

MR. QUINN:  I am not comparing those, sir.  You're talking about the challenge of purchasing at Niagara, and those tranches you are buying are not 150,000.  You are buying for 20,000 a day at Niagara; is that not correct?

MR. SHORTS:  The context of this application is around the challenges that we would have if we chose to deliver 150,000 at Niagara.  That is where the comparison lies.

MR. QUINN:  I'm trying to establish facts that pertain to your experience that you have described of having difficulty buying at Niagara.

MR. KEIZER:  I understand you're trying to establish those facts, but the facts that you're putting forward to the witness is irrelevant with respect to the application that is before this Board, and I think the witness has properly put it that it is related to the 150,000, not a 20,000 incremental amount, which is not what we're here about.

MR. QUINN:  So you're refusing the undertaking?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's all for now, Mr. Millar.  Thank you for the indulgence.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Let's take our break and return at 20 after eleven.
--- Recess taken at 11:04 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:22 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Welcome back, everyone.  I think we will get started.

Mr. Quinn, back over to you.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

I thought it might be helpful if we start off with Union's responses.  They were going to consider some things at the break and get back to us.

MR. KEIZER:  I think what we would like to do is have a look at the transcript first to determine whether we can provide those undertakings and just to make sure that we're clear as to what we are providing or giving, so if we do decide to do so.  So I think that would be preferred.

MR. QUINN:  I can accept that, Mr. Millar.  I at least want Union to take a look at it, and, to the extent clarification is required, we can do so in writing and hopefully help focus the questions, if that's necessary.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  And I would assume that, you know, given the schedule that we're going to be returning, and we will have an opportunity to give some kind of a clarification tomorrow, if we're still at this tomorrow.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  So I take it we're not marking something now, but you are going to review the transcripts and report back, presumably tomorrow morning?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  If we decide to actually give the undertaking or what aspect of clarification we can provide.  And if there is such, then we would clarify that tomorrow on the record.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. QUINN:  If we could handle that procedurally first thing tomorrow, if that is all right, Mr. Millar.  And to the extent Union needs to go back to Chatham and do some runs to see what needs to be done, fine, but there is -- logistically I will be available for the first part of the meeting tomorrow, but not after.

MR. KEIZER:  We will do what we can to clarify the matter and as best we can.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.

MR. KEIZER:  Can I actually just also clarify, just so we can have a sense of where we are:  I just want to get a sense from my friend as to, you know, how -- if he's going to be able to be done by 12:30.  Are you on track or...

MR. QUINN:  I am somewhere around halfway through.  This has been more of a challenge than I'd hoped.  But I understand and respect that we have some differences, so I'm about halfway through.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Where we left off was talking about Niagara upstream, and I have your answers, so I want to move forward and look at Niagara downstream, so takeaway capacity from Niagara.

And in your same answer you had said that 1.4 was all but subscribed the takeaway capacity from Niagara.  Is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Have you asked TransCanada recently if there is any existing capacity that could become available?  Like, what is your most recent reference to -- what information do you have from TransCanada and when is it dated to say, beyond 2015-2016, it would need additional infrastructure?

MR. KEIZER:  This is in the context of 150,000?

MR. QUINN:  This is not in the context -- we are -- and, Mr. Keizer, you continually come back to that.  We are looking for what is the right number.  It does not, in our view, have to be 150,000.  It could be 20,000.  It could be 100,000.  But what I'm reading in that response that left the screen was that all of it is taken up.
"Union expects that significant incremental infrastructure would be required on TransCanada's system to move gas from Niagara further into Ontario beyond 2015-2016."

Do you have a reference for that assertion?

MR. SHORTS:  It is what we have been able to deduce from the various results that we've seen.  For example, Enbridge had stated that, in the capacity open season, there is no capacity available, et cetera.

I mean, one of the things we have to look at --


MR. QUINN:  Sorry.  Are you saying you're relying on Enbridge's evidence?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  I just said that's another one of the points.

Our business development people have been certainly very close to that topic, and they have instructed us that there is nothing available, nothing substantial, without significant upstream infrastructure on what's being committed to start by 2016, by November of 2016.

MR. QUINN:  And I'm not talking about upstream.  I'm talking downstream, capacity from Niagara to, in this case, Union's system.

MR. SHORTS:  Well, if you recall, when Niagara was an export point, it was about 1.2 or 1.3 PJ of capacity.  We would expect that same to be the amount of capacity coming in, because there's been no pipeline infrastructure built.

MR. QUINN:  But you don't know the details of the compressors and what their output would be south-north versus north-south?

MR. SHORTS:  I do not.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So can we ask Union to undertake a request to TransCanada as to what the existing remaining capacity is from Niagara starting November 2015?

MR. KEIZER:  No.

MR. QUINN:  And why is that, sir?

MR. KEIZER:  Because, as we have indicated, this is about the Nexus expansion with respect to the 150,000.  You're embarking on a consideration of whether it should be 10, or 15, or 20.  That's not the application that's before the Board.

MR. QUINN:  I know it's not the application, sir, but --


MR. KEIZER:  So if you're asking the Board to engineer and prescribe the gas supply arrangements for Union, that's your position and you can put that forward in argument.  We're saying we have a contract, and we're asking this contract to be preapproved.

So if your questions relate to that Nexus in the context and Nexus in terms of its overall magnitude and implications, that's a fair question.  But at this stage, I don't see how in any way that relates to the overall request that Union is making.

MR. QUINN:  I'm going to make this statement for the purposes of the record.  Union is bringing this forth under the context of gas supply planning principles, and those principles would say that there is an evaluation of multiple paths to come up with the portfolio that's in the public interest.

In this case here, we're saying you're putting forth 150,000 from Nexus.  Maybe the right number is 100,000, and 50,000 could come from Niagara.  There is a difference in landed cost.

So if you lose your most favoured nation status, you're on the record for how many cents difference that would be, that doesn't overcome a landed cost difference of 35 cents, as referenced in LPMA 7.

So you're saying the right number is 150.  We would say the Board should be determining, if there is any preapproval, what the -- what level of preapproval it may entertain or if Union should consider and provide evidence that it is the most economic alternative.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, that may be your argument, but we're not providing an answer to that undertaking.

MR. QUINN:  Well, without that evidence, sir, we're going to have a hard time getting this through to the Board, so we will consider our other opportunities.

So I'm going to move back to that relief that you are seeking -- that Union is seeking, and that is the preapproval.

And probably the best way is to start with -- kudos to my friend CME -- CME 2.  So CME is asking about the prior preapprovals, and so, in the context of those preapprovals, Union has provided its response.

And if you flip to page 2, under the last paragraph of the answer to No. 1, Union bid into the open season to bring diversity and to access Marcellus basin.  The final sentence says:
"Based on this, and upon a review of the Board's decision and reasons, Union did ultimately proceed with the Niagara contract for 21,000 from Niagara to Kirkwall."

Stopping there.  What were the relevant considerations -- in spite of the fact that Union did not get the preapproval they were requesting, what were the relevant considerations that Union saw in the decision to move forward with Niagara contracting?

MR. SHORTS:  You have to look, Mr. Quinn, at the relative magnitude of that contract compared to our other contracts within our gas supply portfolio.  That 20,000 contract is certainly not comparable to what we're speaking here in Nexus.  We are talking about a much shorter -- smaller volume commitment and much reduced, tremendously reduced, financial commitment, a shorter term.

We were able to continue on with that contract and be able to absorb that within our portfolio since it was a relatively small portion.  We chose to, without Board approval, to continue on with that contract.  But they are not -- it certainly wouldn't be comparable to what we are seeking here from the Nexus application because it's really an application to support a significant greenfield infrastructure that will help to support and bring, you know, near 1 Bcf of incremental gas supplies into Dawn to enhance liquidity and for the benefit of all Ontario consumers.

It's a $715 million demand charge over a 15-year term.  It is very significant, and the risk is very high, and that is why Union is seeking preapproval, as per the guidelines that the Board set forth.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you for your answer.

So at this juncture, back in -- excuse me.  The date of the decision was into January 2011.  I think that that is captured above, but taking that as a reasonable time frame, about four years ago, Mr. Shorts, Union decided to proceed?

MR. SHORTS:  The contract was effective November 1st of 2012.  I don't recall when the Board decision was rendered.

MR. QUINN:  Sorry, my recollection was January, but it is not material to the discussions.

MR. SHORTS:  No.

MR. QUINN:  So at this juncture, Union is seeking relief for the Nexus contract, and they're again relying on the same decision of the Board for preapproval of long-term -- preapproval of the cost consequences of long-term contracting.  So this is in the same type of realm of decision-making for Union?

MR. SHORTS:  As I had previously mentioned, but at a much greater magnitude.  Multiples, ten times greater, et cetera.

MR. QUINN:  And yet I understand, and there's various references throughout the evidence and interrogatories, that Union's concerned, if they do not get preapproval, they would not proceed and that may potentially endanger the Nexus project overall.  Is that an adequate summary?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  You have to realize that the Nexus producers are not experts or have experience in dealing at Dawn or in Canada.  Even the Rover producers, for that matter, do not have that experience.

They are looking towards folks like Union and Enbridge who are the two biggest utilities and who do have activity, lots of activity, in and around Dawn.

If we were to not get preapproval and not continue on, there is a likelihood, given the significant amount of capacity that the two of us hold, that others would start to question that, even the developers themselves.

It's not a question of whether or not it is Niagara or Nexus.  It's really ensuring both happen.  Niagara is already developed.  We're going to see 1.4 PJs of capacity.  It is already going to happen.  Union doesn't have to make a commitment to that for that to happen.

On the Nexus side, we want to ensure that that balance will happen.  We're going to see about 1. -- assume the 1.4 PJs coming in at Niagara.  We're going to have anywhere from 0.8 to 1.3 PJs if you bring in Rover into the equation, coming into Dawn.

Having a balance coming in at the east end of the system through Niagara and an almost equivalent amount coming in at the west end is a good balance to have, and I don't see why that would be a concern.  If Nexus were not developed, then it would definitely be less liquidity, because you would have less producers at Dawn than you otherwise would with Nexus being there.

MR. QUINN:  So balance is an important consideration here for Union.

MR. SHORTS:  Let's look at it in total.  We have 221 between Nexus and Union coming in at Niagara come November 1 of this year.  If you look at what the Nexus commitment will be, the Nexus commitment will be, between the two utilities, about 273.  You've got 221 coming in Niagara, 273 between the two utilities coming in at Dawn.  It's almost the same amount.  That's a pretty good balance.

MR. QUINN:  Well, it's a balance, potentially, and I won't even concede that.  But there is some balance for Ontario is what you're saying.

I'm specifically understanding you're seeking preapproval for Union's cost consequences.  So in demonstrating that balance, can you provide a -- based upon your gas supply -- how much is coming in from the west and how much is coming in from the east?

MR. KEIZER:  I'm not sure we understand the question.  How much is coming in --


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Shorts said it is a relevant consideration to have the balance, and it is using Enbridge volumes to contribute to that balance.  This is Union seeking a preapproval of its cost consequences, and so specific to Union, what is that balance?  How much gas comes in from the west, from St. Clair, Vector, all of the gas that comes into Dawn, and even including Ojibway, and what is that percentage relative to what comes in at Parkway way and Dawn?  Could you provide that?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, all of those things are relevant why?  Because he used the phrase "balance" in the context of the Nexus contract relative to Niagara?

MR. QUINN:  Throughout your evidence you have talked about diversity of supply balance, system integrity, those types -- and those types of principles.  I'm asking you to visually demonstrate it.

So if Nexus goes through and if Union gets 150,000, I'm trying to say, how much comes in from the west and how much comes in from Kirkwall and Parkway?  Could you simply provide that percentage?

MR. SHORTS:  If you look at FRPO 3, we have shown that graphically and in the numbers as to what essentially will be coming in at all the locations in the Union system.

MR. QUINN:  So would you say, looking at 2017, that represents a reasonable balance for Union Gas south?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, we are talking about -- in total we're talking about a balance.  And we look at all the gas supply planning principles.  Whether or not Union has a volume coming in at Niagara or a volume coming in at Kirkwall, the one thing we do not want to do is to start piecemealing.

If we start to take away and chip away at the 150, that will then in and of itself not help to support major infrastructure coming into Dawn.  I mean, if we tend to start now saying let's do 20 at Niagara and 50 here and 60 here, that's not what this is about.  This is about making a significant commitment to ensure new facilities get built so that new suppliers and new supplies come to Dawn, increase liquidity, and help all shippers and buyers at Dawn, including the direct purchase customers, including our own sales service customers.

MR. QUINN:  I know that is your evidence, sir, but I asked about the balance.  Would you say looking at that graph that you have a reasonable balance between east and west for your percentage of annual south sales service receipt points?

MR. SHORTS:  From our particular perspective, that balance is sufficient.  We are comfortable with that balance, and that's why we have the balance we have.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

So again your supposition is that, if Union doesn't go -- doesn't get preapproval, it's a separate decision from whether Enbridge gets preapproval and if it goes.  But if Union does not go, your concern is the producers would be -- it would be a negative signal to take from your evidence.  It would be a negative signal to the producers.

I want to go back through the recent history of projects that are emanating out of Marcellus and heading toward Ontario.  You're familiar with the National Fuel Northeast Access Project?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, you are going to go through projects in the Marcellus field --


MR. QUINN:  Heading toward Ontario.

MR. KEIZER:  To what end?

MR. QUINN:  Well, to what end?  Union has made statements that its preapproval of its cost consequences potentially has the risk of having this infrastructure be built or not be built.  Do I have that correct?

MR. KEIZER:  That's right.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So there have been recent projects, and what I'm trying to understand is:  How did those projects make a go of it?  Obviously Union was not involved in these projects, and so I am asking the panel are they familiar with them.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I guess first of all I'm not necessarily familiar with the project you're referring to, but the point here is in the evidence.  It's the fact that, if Union isn't doing this contract with respect to Nexus, then whether suppliers will actually see a reason to go to Dawn.  That's what the witness has said.

MR. QUINN:  No.  The witness has talked about the -- Union's decision having an impact on other parties.  And I am trying to look at recent history to say what does recent history tell us.

So I'm going to read off four projects that head out of Marcellus -- recent projects in the very recent time frame.  The Northeast project, I mentioned already, Empire pipeline, Tioga County expansion, Tennessee Niagara expansion, and National Fuel Empire -- sorry, National Fuel/Empire Pipeline northern access in 2016.

Would Union undertake to provide the shippers that are publicly available on those respective pipelines?

MR. KEIZER:  No.  If they're publicly available, you can go find them yourself.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, to your evidence, sir, you've talked about the importance of the utility making the commitment, and I thought that the utility would be informed by the support of other projects.

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, again --


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry.  Mr. Quinn, you've spent -- and we've been actually quite lenient, in my view -- that your questions have embarked more on cross-examination than they have in terms of clarification.  Nowhere in the evidence is there anything with respect to these projects or other elements.  It's a question out of the blue, and it is not tied to any -- necessarily anything within the evidence.

You asked your question of clarification.  You got an answer with respect to the clarification.  We're not going to embark on generating new evidence based upon something which you already have indicated is on the public record.  You've spent more time in cross-examination than you have actually in just asking questions of clarification, which is what the intended purpose of the technical conference is supposed to be about.

MR. QUINN:  A technical conference, sir, also provides additional evidence for the Board's consideration.

MR. KEIZER:  Following from the evidence and from the interrogatories that were given in respect of that evidence.

MR. QUINN:  And in this case, the evidence says that the Board should be concerned about the need for having a utility to back this project.

MR. KEIZER:  And he has indicated in his evidence that, if the Enbridge or Union are not prepared to go through with the contract, that suppliers which were unfamiliar with Dawn and with transacting in Canada may be less reluctant to actually participate in the project, which could affect the viability of Nexus.  That is what he said.

MR. QUINN:  So in making that determination, Mr. Shorts, did you look at the contribution of who were the shippers on the respective projects that have come out of Marcellus most recently?

MR. SHORTS:  If you were to look at the answer to TCPL interrogatory 8, what you will find is the rationale and the explanation and the timeline when those various Marcellus Niagara open seasons happened.

They have happened and have developed without the need for Union, other than its initial 20,000, to participate.  They had been for the most part -- not all, but for the most part -- producer-driven, a different set of producers, as I understand it from those that have contracted for capacity on Nexus and/or Rover.  That capacity over the years has and will develop to be about 1.4 PJs.  Again, it's not about Nexus or Niagara.  It's trying to ensure both happen.

If we can then look at Nexus in addition to Niagara, that will be a benefit to all consumers, because of incremental supplies, incremental competition, and new suppliers being at Dawn that traditionally weren't there.  It will definitely be better than if Nexus didn't happen.  That's all we're trying to say.

I mean, we've talked about the various projects that have been announced at Marcellus through Niagara.  We explain the rationale around the timeline:  (a) We didn't have the decision in early 2010 on what we were going to do with our Alliance capacity.  We didn't have the assurance from the settlement agreement that allowed for TransCanada to build and then create capacity past Parkway.  We didn't have those -- that information at that time.  Marcellus was still fairly new.  It was -- you know, they were producing 2 or 4 PJs a day, not 20, like they are today.

There's a lot of rationale and reasons why, at the time, right up until when we committed to -- when we went into the open season in late 2012, Nexus was the only -- at that time, the only large greenfield project on the books coming to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  I understand that, sir.  I was asking about these pipelines and who supported them, and I think I heard you say they're mostly producer supported.

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Were there any utilities involved in supporting those projects that got preapproval to make the projects go?

MR. SHORTS:  To Niagara?

MR. QUINN:  To Niagara or to Rover -- or on Rover's path.

MR. SHORTS:  No.  There were no other utilities that, from our -- that I know of that have sought any kind of -- there are no utilities, as far as I know, that have sought for approval on those upstream pipes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so were there any utilities that took contracts to make those projects go?

MR. SHORTS:  Enbridge took their 200 a day on the domestic line.

MR. QUINN:  Sir, that is a takeaway from Niagara.

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  But not pipeline to Niagara.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Okay.  We will bring that out.  Okay.  TCPL 8 is up there, and I had one question on TCPL 8.  So I'll, for efficiency, go to that.

Basically, you have outlined some of the answers in here, sir, and there are three pipelines that feed Niagara that are related to this interrogatory response.  You have outlined them here.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And that seems to be an issue and a concern for Union.  Our question we asked was:  How many pipelines go into Kensington?  My understanding is that there is one.  Is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  No, that's not correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, help me understand.

MR. SHORTS:  So, at Kensington you have a processing plant that will have capacity of 1.1 Bcf a day, by the time Rover comes into -- by the time Nexus comes into existence.  It's also directly connected to Tennessee Gas Pipeline.

MR. QUINN:  At Kensington?

MR. SHORTS:  At Kensington.  And it is also connected through the Texas Eastern system via the OPEN and TEAL project to the mainline Texas Eastern project and all of the suppliers and connections along that project.

MR. QUINN:  Would you provide a map of the pipeline specific to that area?  I know you've mapped Nexus from Kensington to Dawn.  But is there a map -- it may be somewhere on the record and I haven't come across it --

MR. SHORTS:  We're looking for that.  We have lots of maps.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If you have that map -- and I'm happy for you to take it away at the break and come back and tell me what the reference is.  I haven't seen that.

MR. KEIZER:  We will take it away and look for it.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

Okay.  Moving to FRPO 2.  Now, we had asked and I think others have asked, and sometimes it got referenced here to quantitative evidence that Dawn is disconnected.

Mr. Shorts, you know this graph better than I do in terms of what happened at Dawn in February of 2014.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I will just go through some quick points.  First off, was gas flowing from Dawn back to Vector in February of 2014?

MR. SHORTS:  From Dawn back into Vector?

MR. QUINN:  Back into Vector, back towards Chicago?

MR. SHORTS:  No.

MR. QUINN:  There were no flows back to Chicago from Dawn?  Would you like to check that, sir?  I believe that was...

MR. SHORTS:  I'll have -- I know we have a -- I think it is APPrO 2.  I just want to double-check here where we show some of the historical flows.

MR. QUINN:  Maybe I should --

MR. SHORTS:  And if we look at -- sorry.  If we look at APPrO 2, page 3 of 6, it will show that there were no negative flows on Vector during that time period.

MR. QUINN:  So there were no flows west out of Dawn during that period?

MR. SHORTS:  Not into Vector.

MR. QUINN:  Not into Vector.  Were there westerly flows out of Dawn that were not domestic to Sarnia or locations like that?

MR. SHORTS:  If you look at, on the next page, page 4 --

MR. QUINN:  Excuse me.  Sorry, sir.  I'm just looking at it.  I hadn't seen APPrO 3, so you're ahead of me on that.

MR. SHORTS:  APPrO 2.

MR. QUINN:  Or APPrO 2.  But you are looking at 2015, and then I see -- okay.  Down at the bottom, you're looking at the graph.  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SHORTS:  Hmm-hmm, yes.  So if you go to the next page, being page 4 of 6, you will see on TransCanada Great Lakes that right up until -- there were time periods between January 1 of 2014 and March 1 of 2014 where it was -- gas was flowing back into Great Lakes.

MR. QUINN:  Into Great Lakes.  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  Probably averaging -- sometimes it was over; sometimes it was under, but probably about, on average, 200,000 or something, if I'm looking at the chart.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, it is also -- and I understand, and you can hopefully confirm this for me that it was your evidence in the EB-2014-0145 that this was an anomaly, a perfect storm of price with a number of factors that contributed.

MR. SHORTS:  There was a high demand on the system.  Storage volumes were depleted, and, therefore, we had to rely on incremental supply to get us through.

Had we had incremental supply directly attached to Dominion South Point through Nexus and Rover potentially, then that would have definitely softened that price impact.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I think we're mixing two time frames in terms of what is available.

I am speaking of this time period.  Do you agree with me there was a perfect storm of factors that increased that demand relative to the supply that was available?

MR. SHORTS:  I wouldn't necessarily say a perfect storm.  It was the market reacting the way the market normally does.  It would take volumes to the market it would most deem to be the highest value.

MR. QUINN:  Was this the first year that Union sought to get relief from the Board on its penalty rate from the highest price at Dawn to a more moderate price because of factors that Union considered an anomaly?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can we just -- can we bring it back to the Nexus proceeding?  I am trying to understand where you're going.  You've spent time on the chart.  You've actually talked about the variation in the chart.  So my question, I guess, is:  What has this got to do with Nexus?

MR. QUINN:  This, sir, is a matter of another proceeding, which --


MR. KEIZER:  It is a matter of another proceeding.  That is why I am trying to bring it to this proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  The evidence in that proceeding was -- Union's evidence is they actually asked for a reduction in the price being charged to customers through the penalty rate because of the extraordinary circumstances.

What our view is, and I am asking the panel, one, they can confirm that.  And, two, does this represent ongoing liquidity at Dawn?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, one, I am not going to go dealing with whether they confirmed what you've already expressed your belief as to what the proceeding was or was not about.  If you want to ask about liquidity at Dawn, then I think that is within the context of this proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  So that specifically my question, Mr. Shorts, is:  Does this represent ongoing liquidity at Dawn?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, if you look back on FRPO 2, if you look back -- if you look to -- and again, sorry, it is small writing, and my eyesight is not what it used to be -- you're looking around March of this year.  We also saw a significant difference.

Don't be fooled by the scale.  You know, we're talking about $5 increments here.  We're not talking about 50 cents.  So when you see that spike even in March 1 of 2015, the variation between Dominion South Point and Dawn, that also needs to raise concern, because with better connection, better connectivity, with Dominion South Point and the Utica and Marcellus that both Nexus and potentially Rover could provide, you would expect to see overall price stability, less volatility, and we should see a reduction in the basis differential once those basins are better connected.

So, again, as I mentioned before, it is not about Nexus or Rover or Niagara.  It's really trying to ensure that, by our participation in the Nexus project, we can help to make it happen, along with the added supply and diversity that it will bring in addition to what is already being committed to and happening on Rover, what's already committed to and happening on Niagara.

MR. QUINN:  So your answer is you still see Dawn as illiquid or -- I don't want to phrase it.  I asked the question:  Is this representative of Dawn liquidity with the current infrastructure in place?

MR. SHORTS:  We have never said Dawn was illiquid.  It is the second-biggest hub.  It is still continuing to be a very liquid trading point.  All we're saying is that liquidity will get better with the Nexus project than it would be without the Nexus project, as it would be with full development of Niagara, as is already happening, as would with the development of Rover, which again is already committed to and already happening.

MR. QUINN:  So Nexus aside, you would expect liquidity at Dawn to improve, then, with something like Rover?  With the Rover project maybe specifically?

MR. SHORTS:  Liquidity would improve with Rover, with Nexus, and with Niagara over what it is today.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, the -- well, okay.

If I could ask you to turn up TCPL 5, the attachment 1, page 2.  We had an earlier dialogue about your internal approvals, and then Mr. Kitchen helped us with external approvals expected as a result of gas supply memorandum, and I am just going to try to make sure I've got that correct.

MR. SHORTS:  We have it.

MR. QUINN:  So this letter dated August 19 was written to the Board by Union Gas.  And so what I am trying to understand in this context is, under the page 2 of 5, the first paragraph, it says:

"Union sought no approval in 2015-010 (sic) in relation to the associated gas supply plan.  As noted below, Union does have an obligation to file its Gas Supply Plan Memorandum for information purposes and to present gas supply memorandum at its annual stakeholder meeting."

Stopping there.  We had clarity on what is anticipated, what was an issue in the 2015-0010.  Mr. Kitchen said a gas supply memorandum, if I understand it correctly, would be coming forth with -- sorry, maybe I shouldn't use the word "memorandum."  A gas supply plan was coming forward with the 2016 application.  Is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  A gas supply memorandum will be filed with the rates application in mid-September.  And that gas supply memorandum is covering the gas supply plan that was completed this spring and summer and comes into effect this November.

MR. QUINN:  And that plan will be subject to the approval of the Board?

MR. KEIZER:  No.

MR. QUINN:  So the Board's not seized of a need to make a decision on that evidence provided in the memorandum?

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Quinn, you were part of the proceeding in which the agreement was made to provide the memorandum as part of the rates proceeding, and it was very clear in there that it was being provided for information purposes only.

MR. QUINN:  With that being clarified, what opportunity does the Board have to look at, in the example, the prudency of the 2015/16 plan?  Is that the earnings sharing mechanism proceeding next spring?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, yes.  We're debating gas supply plans rather than talking about the Nexus contract and whether or not some policy perspective the Board has or has not jurisdiction to consider that.

So, in my view, you know, your question is irrelevant for purposes of this proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  Well, sir, in that answer -- and I believe it is above -- but Union was reluctant to provide additional information because, frankly, this information comes forth in the respective proceedings, and --


MR. KEIZER:  No.  It is because this is -- this proceeding is about the approval of the Nexus contract.  This is not about going through and doing an entire system supply plan for Union Gas.

So many of your questions, quite frankly, are irrelevant, and the one you are pursuing now is irrelevant.  And so we are not answering it.  So you might want to suggest moving to another area.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, sir.  I was trying to ask about gas supply planning principles as they pertain to decisions Union is making.  This is then a decision that Union is asking the Board to make, and we're trying to understand the process by which they came up with the decision, and some of this information is helpful, in our view.

MR. KEIZER:  And we are asking for approval of a contract, $715 million over 15 years, and that's the basis upon which, if you want to explore gas supplies principles, to explore it within that context.  If you want to redesign Union's system, well, that's entirely up to you to do that in another proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  Well, sir, I think that is a little bit of hyperbole, but I will move on.  We are trying to understand principles here and the application of them.

So specific then to the transport -- the ability to use information in other proceedings, can we take it, then, that the application that Union has presented in the 2017 Dawn-Parkway build, we can use that evidence for the purposes of seeing the whole picture together?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, if you would like to bring a motion and we can deal with that, because the Statutory Powers Procedure Act says you can't otherwise do that without leave, so my view is no.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So the evidence in this memo that Union will be presenting, is it available and able to be used in the respective proceedings, Dawn-Parkway build, Nexus proceeding, Burlington-Oakville?

MR. KEIZER:  I am not -- first of all, we're not answering the question with respect to -- with respect to this proceeding, it's not relevant.  With respect to your considerations about those other proceedings, I think it is inappropriate that you are raising it here within the context of this proceeding, within a context of a technical conference.  What Burlington-Oakville has to do with this, what the Dawn-Parkway has to do with it is completely outside the bounds of this technical conference.

MR. QUINN:  Sir, what I was trying to --


MR. SHORTS:  This is not an exploration of every Union application that currently sits before the Board.  If you want to direct your questions with respect to this application and the relevance of this application, we will be quite pleased to answer your questions.

MR. QUINN:  Well, sir, what I was trying to do is understand how many questions I have to ask of a technical nature in this proceeding or if I can rely on other evidence.  So, as an example, if I were to say, "With this Nexus contract, what incremental build is needed on the 2017 Dawn-Parkway system to facilitate this gas getting to where it needs to go?" can you answer that question?

MR. SHORTS:  There is no connection between the 2017 Dawn to Parkway and our request to deliver and get approval for a Dawn contract from Nexus.  It has nothing to do with that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's where we will disagree.  I will move on.

I'm just doing some housekeeping here.  If you could turn up FRPO 15.  We were asking about clarifying the timelines and the commercial consequences to Union.  And if I -- is an accurate reading of this response that Union had no financial consequence to taking no capacity or reduced capacity up until signing the precedent agreement in August of 2014?

MR. SHORTS:  Had Union chosen to not execute the precedent agreement that we had worked painstakingly hard on negotiating for a year and a half, then there would have been no consequences to Union.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SHORTS:  Financial consequences other than, as I mentioned before, the fact that we would now not be supporting a new incremental project which would bring additional volumes into Dawn to help with liquidity, which will help all customers, including those that buy at Dawn and sellers who sell at Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I'm reluctant to ask you to turn it up, but with the benefits of electronics, Staff 17.  I wanted to make sure I understand:  What percentage of the Nexus projects -- project uses existing pipeline assets?

MR. SHORTS:  The Nexus project will be delivering approximately 1.5 Bcf of gas on the greenfield portion, which is new infrastructure.  And in addition to that, another approximately 800,000 gJs a day will use existing infrastructure to get to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  So the total would be 2.3 with the two?

MR. SHORTS:  No, no.  1.5 is coming on the greenfield portion, which goes from Kensington to Willow Run.  That is the greenfield pipe.  That is 250 miles of 36-inch pipe.

And then, from there forward, the Nexus will be contracting with Vector, DTE, to get that gas to Dawn or, in Union's case, to St. Clair for ultimate delivery into Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  So how many miles -- you provide the greenfield 250 miles.  What's the length of existing assets that would be used?  I'm trying to figure out what percentage of the pipeline is greenfield versus existing assets.  This interrogatory response was --


MR. SHORTS:  So distance, you're referring to?  I don't have -- I mean, we've got the map which shows the relative distance of the two.  It's not, obviously, to perfect scale, but we have the evidence map.

MR. TETREAULT:  I think it is fair to say, Mr. Quinn, the majority of the pipeline is greenfield.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Fair enough.  All right.  Leaving it at that, and I will look at the scale on the map, I guess my question from that is:  What amount would be available, if Nexus were not to be -- if Nexus decided not to proceed, based upon whatever circumstances were created between then and now, how much would still be available to Dawn?  Would it be the 0.8 PJs in terms of pipeline capacity?

MR. SHORTS:  If Nexus were not to proceed and not to contract for capacity on DTE and on Vector?  It would depend totally as to where shippers wanted to take those volumes as to how much capacity would still be available.  I wouldn't know whether or not, then, Vector would recontract capacity or whether DTE would recontract capacity.  I just wouldn't know that.

MR. QUINN:  But the pipe wouldn't go away?  It would just be the case of first come, first served in the direction they want to flow?

MR. SHORTS:  The pipe does not go away.  Union would maintain the 150,000 within its St. Clair to Dawn and have that totally available to S&T market like it has been rather than having half of it going to meet the needs of the sales service customers.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you, panel.  I appreciate the responses I did get, and we will determine where we go with the rest of it, but I do appreciate your patience with us and the information provided.

That's it, Mr. Millar, for today.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  We have -- Tom, are you ready to go?

MR. BRETT:  I think I am after APPrO.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Is APPrO here?  Oh, there.  I'm sorry.

MR. SCHUCH:  By the way -- can I interrupt for a sec?  There has been a suitcase left just outside --


MR. BRETT:  That is my suitcase.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you, Tom.  It got some of the Staff a bit freaked out.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  All right.  Mr. Wolnik, over to you.  
Examination by Mr. Wolnik:

MR. WOLNIK:  Good afternoon, panel.   John Wolnik representing APPrO.

I have a few questions that I would like to just review with you.

Mr. Shorts, you talked about both Nexus and Rover kind of going forward at this point.  Can you just elaborate on that, what the statuses of each of the two projects are at this point in time in terms of where they are with respect to their approvals, any other commitments?  Just in general, can you provide more information on where these two projects sit?

MR. SHORTS:  Sure.  Rover, as far as we know, is committed to their project, predominantly supported by -- well, all supported by producers.  They have enough capacity committed that they are going forward with that.

They made their FERC filing application, I believe, the end of March of this year.  Nexus made their pre-filing around that same time.  They expect to make their FERC filing in November of this year.

The Rover project, again, will potentially be about 1 PJ -- anywhere between 0.5 PJ to 1 PJ of potential incremental supply coming to Dawn, Nexus being approximately 0.8 based upon their FERC pre-filing.

Both of those projects have indicated that they are on target from a timing perspective, and they both expect to be in service for their respective dates, which is in and around -- for the Dawn portion, in and around the same time, November 1 of 2017.

MR. WOLNIK:  So you anticipate both of them occurring at the same time, then, basically?

MR. SHORTS:  That's the plan, from what both projects have stated.

MR. WOLNIK:  So you are not seeing any chance of slippage, then?

MR. SHORTS:  At this point in time, there doesn't seem to be any indication of a time slippage, at least for sure on the Nexus project, from our understanding, talking to the Nexus folks.

MR. WOLNIK:  So in addition to being sort of a buyer of gas, you're also the infrastructure provider at Dawn too.  So have you had discussions with both of those parties in terms of interconnecting at Dawn and providing Dawn as a receipt point?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  If you go back to the initial time period of Rover, you have to remember Rover was initially going to be totally greenfield pipe, right from the basin right through to Dawn, and that was pretty significant.  They were not proposing to use existing infrastructure.  So that created -- obviously, we had discussions with them over that, over the time period, until they made the decision, much later, that they actually would use the -- would use the existing infrastructure as well.

From a Nexus perspective, there -- again, there was no need to have incremental infrastructure.  They were contracting using existing infrastructure with Vector and with Union on the St. Clair capacity, and there was no requirement.

The only thing, as we have noted in, I believe it is APPrO 2, was that between the combination of Rover, Nexus, and whatever other contracting is happening on Vector, Vector has asked for an incremental 0.3 of basically meter capacity at Dawn, and that's something that will be paid for by Vector, because not sure what -- I don't know if they relate it to a specific project.

MR. WOLNIK:  I was going to come to that later on, but why don't we just talk briefly about that.  So that 0.3 increase, that is for both projects?

MR. SHORTS:  It would be for both projects as well as any other contracting -- existing contracting that would happen on Vector or that has happened on Vector absent -- like, aside from those two projects.

MR. WOLNIK:  So, in your opinion, then, if one or the other don't go, will that capacity still be needed on Vector, the increase in delivery capacity at Dawn?

MR. SHORTS:  It would depend on what other shippers would want to do then with that capacity.  I know for us, if Nexus goes away, we will have to look at how to replace it, and Vector capacity would be certainly one option that we would look at going forward as well as Niagara and any other option that would be available to us at the time.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And just -- volume delivered at the outlet of Vector, is that Dawn?  Is that the same as Dawn from a purchase perspective?  We all talk about Dawn as being kind of -- you have talked about it many times being a very liquid point.

If volumes come in at Vector, is that the same as Dawn?

MR. SHORTS:  My understanding, Dawn-Vector would be considered the same as Dawn.

MR. WOLNIK:  So no additional charge to get from the outlet of Vector into Dawn then?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't believe so.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thanks.

So I would just like to touch base a little bit, if we can go to BOMA 2 just for a second and then APPrO 5.

So BOMA 2 talks about that Union's aware that the Nexus FERC pre-filing application stated that 760,000 dekatherms a day would be contracted to Dawn.  Do you recall that?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we have that.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So if we could go to -- I guess with that number in mind, can we go to APPrO 5?  And I know this response was from Sussex, but it does provide some high-level information.  And it's the table on page 2.  So it talks about the shippers there being, you know, Union, Enbridge, the two DTE companies, as well as the three producers.

So with that 760 in mind, is it fair to say that, if we were to take your volumes, Enbridge, DTE volumes away from that 760, that would be the volumes that those producers are expecting to deliver to Dawn?  Is that a reasonable assumption?

MR. SHORTS:  The DTE volumes aren't coming to Dawn.  The DTE volumes are stopping at DTE.

MR. WOLNIK:  All right.  So these would -- so they could actually be contracting for more than 350 a day?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't know how the math works out --


MR. WOLNIK:  I'm just trying to figure out --


MR. SHORTS:  The difference between the 260 that Union has and the -- or that the combination of Union and Enbridge have and the 0.8 or the 800,000, so, yes, that would be the amount that the producers would be committed to bringing into Dawn.

MR. WOLNIK:  And is it your understanding those producers would deliver all the way to Dawn, or would some of it just stop in Michigan?

MR. SHORTS:  That would be the capacity they have contracted to Dawn.

MR. WOLNIK:  So that's a fair bit of volume, then, over and above what the utilities have contracted for.

MR. SHORTS:  Absolutely.  And it is a good-news story for those that purchase at Dawn to have that much incremental supply being earmarked when those suppliers and producers have a lot of competition to take that supply in all other places.

MR. WOLNIK:  Do you have any sense of how the producers will market the capacity?  Do you believe that they will repackage it so that -- they will sell it based on kind of a Kensington-forward type of arrangement, or will it be Dawn-indexed?

MR. SHORTS:  My expectation it will be a combination.  It will be whatever customers are looking for and what they agree to sell.

When I look at our expression of interest, we had a range of alternatives that were provided to the -- to us by the 13 parties that responded to it.

MR. WOLNIK:  And one time I was noticing in the presentation that you did for senior management that you were looking for basically a purchase price at Kensington being a Dawn -- being basically a net-back price.  So it would be a Dawn price less the transportation.  I take it that has changed, and you're now -- you are buying at a Kensington or Dominion south price, index price, and then adding on the transportation.  Is that fair?

MR. SHORTS:  We will be looking at different options.  We haven't committed to anything as of yet.  We are still working through the RFP process with those producers.  But we have not committed to -- that's what we had sought to get, but we're still trying to answer questions.

It was probably a little early for us to go out.  The project is still two years out.  Some of the producers, you know, were a little hesitant.  We haven't gotten NAESB agreements with most of them yet, so...

MR. WOLNIK:  Can you just comment on the advantages and disadvantages of those two approaches?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, I think what we're going to find, over time, is that the Dominion South Point and, therefore, what we expect to be the Kensington price will be subject to its own factors.

So you will have a Dawn price that will then start to equate more and more closely to a Dominion South Point price, as the connectivity tends to increase between the two basins, much like any two basins would.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  I wonder if we could just go back to APPrO 2 for a minute with kind of that high-level information in mind.

So it sounds like, between the two companies, it could be -- it looks like about, you know, about 1.3 to 1.8 PJs a day would be the capacity that the two companies are looking to deliver to Dawn.

But I think in APPrO -- on page 3 -- there we go, that table right there -- it shows the increase of 300,000 PJs -- sorry, yes, 0.3 PJs a day increase from Vector.  So it looks like these companies are basically taking over a significant portion of the existing capacity on Vector.  Is that a fair assumption?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  They would be taking over a significant portion of the existing facilities on Vector.

MR. WOLNIK:  So Chicago and Alliance is certainly significantly diminishing in importance then?

MR. SHORTS:  Not to Chicago.  But definitely as it relates to Dawn.  We're just going to find a difference in the amount of capacity that's going to be available to move from Chicago into Dawn.  But we certainly -- you know, we certainly are expecting to continue to have our roughly 80 to 100,000 of Vector capacity.  We expect that to continue ongoing forward.  We can't say for sure, but definitely out to 2020 we expect that to be in the realm of our still capacity we would contract from Chicago into Dawn.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.

Just looking at this chart a little bit -- thank you for that, by the way -- it is helpful to kind of refresh my memory on some of the volumes coming into Dawn.  But there was a couple of things that I thought you might have included.  I wonder if you wouldn't mind just updating the chart for me.

One of the things that wasn't on here was the deliverability you have from your storage into Dawn.  Is that something that you could have added to this as well?  I have a second item.  And that is you didn't show volumes that would flow westerly on the Dawn to Parkway system, whether that's from -- and I don't know whether there's physical flow capability or not, but you at least have contractual flows on your M12 X contracts as well as there may be other things that -- other contracts you have that flow into Dawn.

Could you update this chart just to reflect those two things?

MR. KITCHEN:  So, John, you're referring to the chart that's on the screen right now?

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.  The top chart.  I am just trying to get a sense of sort of the volumes that come into Dawn.

MR. KITCHEN:  So these are -- right now they're upstream pipelines.  You want us to add the deliverability from storage?

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  Because you would have that deliverability you would have from storage would be one of your pipelines into Dawn.  Right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Sorry, say that again?  Deliverability...

MR. WOLNIK:  From storage.  So you've got however number of pools you've got these days, 20 or something like that.  They provide a level of deliverability that would come into Dawn.  So I am just trying to get a sense of sort of the magnitude of the volumes coming into Dawn.

MR. TETREAULT:  So, John, the gas we can withdraw from Dawn and get it aboveground at Dawn from our own storage pools?

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  From your own storage pools into Dawn.  I appreciate not all of them are delivered to Dawn.

MR. TETREAULT:  Right.

MR. WOLNIK:  But if you could --


MR. KITCHEN:  Is it really, then, what would be coming out of storage and going into the Dawn-Parkway system?

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.

MR. KITCHEN:  I am trying to make sure we have the right --


MR. WOLNIK:  That's right.  And I assume it is something like 2 PJs a day, something in that order of magnitude.

MR. KITCHEN:  It is 2 or 3, yes.  So I think we can do that one.  And then the second part of the request was?

MR. WOLNIK:  The second one was -- I mean, you have these M12 X contracts, and I understand it provides the shipper the ability to deliver their volumes that might come in at Kirkwall to Dawn itself.

So it seems to me that you've got at least the contractual ability to deliver to Dawn, and I don't know whether you physically flow into Dawn or not.  Probably not, but at least you have the contractual capability of flowing to Dawn.

MR. KITCHEN:  We could provide you with the total contractual westerly commitment, I guess, if I could say it that way.

MR. WOLNIK:  And that could be M12, and it could be other contracts too.  I can't recall what you've got --


MR. WOLNIK:  There used to be some C1 contracts, I think, that were westerly.  But I'm not sure if that's --


MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.  That's all I'm looking for, just those numbers.

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  We can provide that.

MR. MILLAR:  So the undertaking is JT1.3, and I take it is in two parts.  Could we get a succinct summary of what is being undertaken?

MR. WOLNIK:  To update the chart on page 3 of APPrO 2 to include the deliverability from Union's storage into Dawn as well as the westerly flow contracts on the Dawn to Parkway system.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  UNION to update the chart on page 3 of APPrO 2 to include the deliverability from Union storage into Dawn as well as the westerly flow contracts on the Dawn to Parkway system

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Wolnik, I think that I was a bit more specific on the deliverability; that I said it would be the deliverability into the Dawn-Parkway system.

And I think you said that was okay, but...

MR. WOLNIK:  Could you explain the difference, then?

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, I guess there are some pools that we wouldn't actually inject into the Dawn-Parkway system, I don't -- I think.  But that's the only distinction.  I just want to make sure we get the right number.  I'm not --


MR. WOLNIK:  And so do I.  Do the majority have the capability of getting into the --


MR. KITCHEN:  The majority do, yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  That's fine, then.  I don't know if that is any clearer or not.

MR. KITCHEN:  It just might be easier for us to get the numbers.

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes, I think that's fine.  I think the way you have expressed it works for me.

MR. KITCHEN:  For example, Oil Springs East doesn't deliver -- is upstream -- Oil Springs East is upstream of Dawn, right?

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.

MR. KITCHEN:  So...

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.

And I wonder if -- let's see.  If we could -- we want to talk a little bit about liquidity.

So if we can go back to APPrO 5(b) for this discussion.  And, Chris, I think you talked about these projects enhancing liquidity, but I think when I looked at your application, and particularly on page 1 of Exhibit A, you actually talked about liquidity being maintained.

So do I understand -- and I know later in the application you talk about enhancing.  So, just for my benefit, could you just provide Union's opinion on whether it is going to be maintained or enhanced?

MR. SHORTS:  The Nexus project and Union's support of the Nexus project will definitely enhance and add to the liquidity.

MR. WOLNIK:  And what about Rover?

MR. SHORTS:  Rover would certainly add to the liquidity as well, considering they would be bringing more volume and different shippers as well, as far as we can tell, between the two projects.

MR. WOLNIK:  And I think you had indicated that Dawn was currently the number two most liquid hub on the continent now.  Is that --


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  Next to AECO, it is number two.

MR. WOLNIK:  Will it make a big difference to get a little bit more volume into -- like I think this 0.3 volume, 0.3 PJs a day, will that that make a big difference?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, but again, it's not necessarily the 0.3 that you have to look at.  You have to look at what would have happened had Nexus and Rover not taken place.  So you could have potentially seen deliveries from Vector, as we have seen for the last couple of years, be lower than they otherwise would be.  So it is not necessarily -- I wouldn't compare it to the 1.6 or the 1.9, but you could have -- we could have definitely seen Vector's capacity drop to, certainly, less than -- you know, much less than, say, half a PJ a day of contracted capacity.

So it would necessarily -- I wouldn't say the 0.3 is the comparator.  It would be with what otherwise would have been, absent Nexus and Rover.

MR. WOLNIK:  But the capacity doesn't go away.  I mean, it would still be there.  And to the extent that the market price, the capacity would have the gas flow, it would still move, would it not?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, the expectation is that, if you have people that have contracted for it, they will tend to use that capacity more so than if they didn't contract for it.

MR. WOLNIK:  I mean, that's only that chart we saw on APPrO 2 and Great Lakes where, I think, during the winter of 2014, gas actually was backhauling on Great Lakes from Dawn, but then when it got to a month or so later it actually picked up substantially.

MR. SHORTS:  It's still not the volumes that we traditionally would have seen in the past from Great Lakes.

You're really talking about -- other than that short period of time during the month of March, it was really about flowing less than half a PJ a day, which when you consider 1.2, 1.3 used to be the amount that we would expect to see from Great Lakes a number of years ago.  That's just not the volume that is coming in today, on average.

MR. WOLNIK:  But the capacity, again, hasn't gone away?

MR. SHORTS:  It hasn't gone away.

MR. WOLNIK:  It could be used if the demand was there?

MR. SHORTS:  It could be used.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.

Looking at Sussex response (b) here that is on the screen, do you agree with all of these -- this description of liquidity and their responses?

Actually, maybe I should ask:  Is there anything in Sussex's response that you disagree with?  Maybe I should ask that question first.

MR. SHORTS:  No.  Those are basically the same traits that we would look to define liquidity and a liquid trading hub.  Obviously, the traded volume is the transactions that happen.  We see large numbers of transactions that happen at Dawn and continue to.

The number of counterparties and the diversity will absolutely increase; with Nexus, Rover, and Niagara, that will increase.

The price volatility will be much lower as liquidity is enhanced, and definitely you will have a higher percent of days with the transaction that will take place if you've got 100 active parties transacting every day like you do at Dawn.

You know, the other thing they go on to say within (b) is they -- is, again, the key traits that make up and define a liquid trading hub:  access to diverse upstream basins, multiple pipes coming in, multiple pipes and sufficient takeaway coming out, lots of buyers and sellers, price transparency, directs access to storage.  Those are all of the key things that Dawn has that define a liquid trading hub.

MR. WOLNIK:  We've asked Sussex, and I will follow up with them, but I just want to maybe chat briefly with you about it.
We asked them to sort of quantify liquidity, but they said that they didn't do that.  Does Union actually quantify or calculate what the liquidity is at any point in time?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  We look at it from a qualitative perspective.  I mean, we look at the more transactions, the more buyers and sellers.  From that perspective, you can see raw numbers that will tell you that one point is liquid, more liquid than another.   But you can equate price transparency between variations between your various prices.  You can see the number of transactions that happen on a daily basis, and the number of deals, the volume of those deals.  All of those are quantitative, but they all sort of come to a qualitative assessment of the liquidity of a particular trading hub.

MR. WOLNIK:  And I know, on page 4 of this IR response, Sussex did provide some information on daily trades and number of deals and -- but they didn't talk much about volatility.

And I think that's -- volatility is more of a mathematical calculation.  Is that right?  That's the way I understand volatility to be, sort of the standard deviation of the price at any time.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  Volatility, we've seen it in some of the charts.  The volatility between various basins can be a direct result.  But, yes, you're right.  They have quantitatively made their assessment of Dawn on page 4 of 5, where they showed the various transactions.

MR. WOLNIK:  Does Union actually calculate the volatility, the actual -- the volatility of the price?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHORTS:  I would just take you back to FRPO 2, which, again, showed the difference in the spot prices between Dominion South Point and Dawn for that period of time that we looked at it.  We don't have an actual quantitative calculation based upon the standard deviation.

MR. WOLNIK:  So it's not something you track?

MR. SHORTS:  No.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.  So at the end of the day, given your gas supply planning principle, how much weight, in your opinion, should the Board give to this application on the improvement in liquidity as a reason for approving the application?

MR. SHORTS:  I think they should provide tremendous weight to that.  If you look at the greater benefits to not only Union's sales/service customers but to all direct purchase customers, with more supply, more suppliers, greater diversity, we would -- it would lead to greater competition and lower prices.

It should make natural gas prices and energy prices in general more competitive in Ontario when, for example, for industries that are competing against neighbouring jurisdictions that already do have access to those supplies.

So along with liquidity should come a reduction in the price and an overall better competitive marketplace for customers to buy into.

MR. WOLNIK:  So I get the price reduction.  I think that is kind of supply and demand economics from what I remember of it, which may not be a lot, but in terms of liquidity itself, which I don't think includes the level of price itself, is it?  I don't see anything in here that says liquidity is a function of the level of price.

MR. SHORTS:  Well, liquidity -- enhanced liquidity will bring price stability.  So in other words, the ability to plan your gas prices and to keep them within a manageable range, that will absolutely be enhanced by incremental supply and more customers.

MR. WOLNIK:  Has price stability and price volatility -- are they one and the same or related?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, yes.  I mean, the more price stability, the less price volatility.

MR. WOLNIK:  So are they completely interchangeable terms, then?

MR. SHORTS:  Depends on the context you're using them in, but...

MR. WOLNIK:  How would you use it?

MR. SHORTS:  I would say price stability means there's less volatility.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  I am just trying to minimize the number of terms here to basic -- to understand this liquidity.

So your position is it is a significant factor that the Board should rely on to assist in approving this application?

MR. SHORTS:  The Board has certainly acknowledged and recognized that liquidity at the Dawn hub is an important factor.  You know, they have quoted that previously and have basically recognized the value that the Dawn hub brings to Ontario and Ontario consumers.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Wolnik.  That takes us to our lunch break, which will be one hour.  So let's return at 25 to two.

MR. SCHUCH:  Oh, and I have an announcement.  I did hear from Julie Girvan, representing CCC, and she said she would not be able to make it today or tomorrow.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess at 12:35 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:35 p.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Welcome back, everyone.  We're going to commence the afternoon session of the technical conference.

Mr. Brett, are you prepared to proceed?

MR. BRETT:  Yes, I am.  Thank you, Michael.
Examination by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  Gentlemen, I just wanted to start following up on a discussion that I -- from earlier this morning.

Could you advise, I have a number -- and I'm not sure I can give you a reference, Mr. Tetreault, but I believe that your evidence says that, if the -- if this project goes ahead, you will pay, essentially, annual total tolls of $47 million.  Is that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And what I would like to know, if you can tell me, is -- and it may be spelled out in the evidence; it might even be spelled out on one of my IRs, but I wanted to just ask it early, so I don't get -- before I get confused.

Of the $47 million, how much is paid in respect of the cost of service of the greenfield part of the pipeline, and how much is paid in respect of the capacity that either you or the pipeline entity will hold on the other pipelines, on the way to Dawn?  Can you give me a rough breakdown?

MR. SHORTS:  Bear with us for one second, here.  The greenfield portion of our rate is 63.5 cents U.S.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  Yes, that number I recall, now that you mention it.  And the other is the 13.5?  Is that --


MR. SHORTS:  I am trying to do the math, if I can.  Of the 63.5 to the 77, it's about 82.5 percent of that total cost would be towards the greenfield cost.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And the balance here on this section (a) is the 13.5 is the rate to move it from Willow Run to the border.  Right?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  And then is there any -- I guess there is no cost on the Canadian side of the border, is there?  That's your own capacity?

MR. SHORTS:  That's our own capacity.

MR. BRETT:  On the St. Clair line?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, okay.  And then, just as a technicality, is the way that works on the -- with respect to the non-greenfield portion, does Nexus pay that and you, then, pay Nexus; or do you pay those directly, those tariffs from Willow Run into St. Clair?

MR. SHORTS:  We pay those directly to Nexus.  They contract for that capacity, and then we pay Nexus directly.

MR. BRETT:  So they effectively just pass it through to you?

MR. SHORTS:  We pay Nexus, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  But no markup or anything like that?  No?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't know what deal they have with their -- with those existing facilities or what rate they're paying particularly, but the rate that we have negotiated is 77 cents all the way to the border.  So 63.5, 13.5 for the transportation by others to get it to the border.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  All right.  Okay.

And now then there were also a couple of small -- just could you confirm for me that, as part of the project cost -- I guess it would be part of the greenfield portion of the project -- there were a couple of small laterals that were built down around Kensington to link up with -- is it Tennessee and/or Texas Eastern?  One goes right through -- pretty well right through the gathering plant, but there is a lateral has to be built down in there somewhere?

MR. SHORTS:  There will be a lateral -- there will be a connection to the gas supply -- to the processing plant to Tennessee and to the Texas Eastern OPEN/TEAL project.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And those are all -- okay.  Those are all built, though, by the Nexus.  So those are facilities, effectively?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Those aren't tariffs being paid to Texas Eastern or anything else?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  Those are -- any of those facilities are contemplated within our rate.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  All right.

And then the -- okay.  So I am going to just follow along.  My questions are going to be mainly just following from our IRs.  Then at the end I will have a few questions on the precedent agreement.

But if I look at the -- our IRs, I think No. 2 is the first one here that -- so this is T1 Union-BOMA 2.  And there, what I would like to know is the Union -- it is just really to make sure I have this simple arithmetic right -- Union's capacity -- Union is taking 150,000 dekatherms a day on the pipeline.  And how close is -- that's pretty close to -- within about 5 percent of 150,000 gJs a day?  What does 150 dekatherms a day equate to in gJs a day roughly?

MR. GILLETT:  It will be 158,258.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, if you took the -- the question you were answering there was the capacity taken by Union as a percentage of the deliveries to Dawn.

If you took that rather as a -- if you wanted to find out what the capacity Union took was as a percentage of the total pipeline capacity, I take it you would put the 150,000 over 1.5 million dekatherms.  Is that right?  I mean...

MR. SHORTS:  And it works out to be about 17 percent.

MR. BRETT:  Of what?  That ratio I just --


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Just a second.  Just pardon me just a minute here.  What's the total --


MR. SHORTS:  Sorry.  I'll correct that, Tom.  Ours is -- I can't do simple math obviously.  That's 10 percent.  Enbridge's on top of that would be 17 percent.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Well, we're the same that way.  So, anyway, that's fine.

MR. SHORTS:  That's why I should have a calculator here.

MR. BRETT:  We should have Peter Thompson here with his calculator.

Okay.  Now -- all right.  I want to move over to three.  Okay.  We can pass three.

All right.  Now, on four, the question was the -- going back to the 47 million.  This represents 31 percent of Union's 2017 total projected transportation portfolio cost.  So I just want to make sure I understand that.

Is that the transportation portfolio to deliver your system gas, or is that the transportation -- or, first of all, is that what that is, or is that the -- does the 31 percent relate to the transportation portfolio that you have that deals with both your own supply, your own, own supply, and direct purchase gas?  [Witness panel confers]


MR. GILLETT:  That would be for system supply gas.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And what would the comparable number be for -- if we took the total amount of gas, the direct purchase gas and your system supply gas, total amount of in-franchise approximately?

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry.  Again, from a dollar perspective or from a volumetric perspective?

MR. BRETT:  I think -- the question was, I think, initially -- let's see.  Yes, I think from a dollar perspective.  Yes, a dollar perspective.

MR. SHORTS:  The only problem is we don't really know what the direct purchase customers' transportation portfolios cost.  They could be buying as we would expect.  They're probably buying most of it at Dawn.

MR. BRETT:  So now you -- so you're saying, to the extent they were using your transportation, let Western buy/sells, you would have that information.  But now you're saying everybody has pretty much shifted to Dawn, so you don't have that anymore?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, for --


MR. BRETT:  There is no upstream transportation cost, you're saying, for --


MR. SHORTS:  For Union South, we don't have western bundled T and direct purchase.  And we've also agreed to eliminate or suspend the vertical slice program.  So most of those --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. SHORTS:  -- customers wanted to be at Dawn --


MR. BRETT:  Yeah.

MR. SHORTS:  -- for their purchasing.  So, therefore, those services have created the ability for them to contract at Dawn.

MR. BRETT:  So you're saying there is no upstream transportation capacity associated with the direct purchases anymore?

MR. SHORTS:  In Union South.  In Union North we still have that --


MR. BRETT:  Yeah.

MR. SHORTS:  -- but it would be a smaller -- it would be a fairly small proportion of the total --


MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  -- that rely on Union's transport portfolio.  Most of the large customers in Union North contract for their own transportation capacity and supply, so...

MR. BRETT:  And you don't know what -- basically those are not numbers you have, I guess, eh?

MR. SHORTS:  No.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, in terms of what you contract for on their behalf, this would be just -- this -- what we're talking is, I guess, of a subset of direct purchase customers, a smaller -- a subset of direct purchase customers that you would contract for.  What would that amount to on an annual basis?  Do you know?  In terms of transportation.

MR. SHORTS:  I don't have that number handy.  It would be a fairly small number.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  Under 50 million?

MR. SHORTS:  Under, sorry, $50 million?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. SHORTS:  It would certainly be much, much smaller than that.  We would be really only talking about capacity that we've contracted for in Union North on TransCanada, so on behalf of bundled direct purchase customers.  So it would, for sure, on an annualized basis, be much less than that.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And the -- okay.  Now, I'm not sure whether this -- if you took -- so you're -- if you took your total throughput, you've got your in-franchise demand and the dollar portfolio associated with that.  Then with respect to your transit volumes, your M12 volumes, those are -- how does that work?  Do those -- do the M12 folks hold their own upstream transportation typically on your system or -- I mean, beyond upstream of your system, or do you hold that transportation typically?

MR. TETREAULT:  Typically I would expect them to hold that, Mr. Brett, so -- or the downstream transportation as well.  So you may have somebody like Gaz Metro who holds M12 capacity from Dawn to Parkway --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. TETREAULT:  -- and then they would also have capacity from Parkway to their delivery areas --


MR. BRETT:  Yes.  I see.  And I guess what -- and they would buy at Dawn.

MR. TETREAULT:  For example, yes.

MR. BRETT:  In that example.  And I suppose, would it be fair to say that most of the M12 folks would buy at either Dawn or Empress?

MR. SHORTS:  I would expect, given the trend, that most of those M12 folks would be buying at Dawn.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, okay.  If I can just turn over to four, BOMA 4 here.  Pardon my -- I think this is the best way to go through this.  Well, we will skip that next one, and the next two, actually, for the moment.

BOMA -- okay.  BOMA 6.  I'm sorry.  BOMA 7.  Now, this is an area where you have talked a lot, I guess, this morning.  This kind of gets us into various projects that are bringing gas in, so I won't need to go through this in a great deal of detail.

I think you did give the status -- well, if I just look at these, just if you wouldn't mind looking at page 2 of 2, and just look briefly at this list of projects.  And I just want to make sure -- have you got that little table in front of you?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, the Niagara expansion, Tennessee Gas Pipeline, that is FERC-approved.  And I guess -- and you may have answered this earlier, but do you expect that to be in service by November 15th, as far as you're aware?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, as far as we're aware.

MR. BRETT:  And the same with Northern Access?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And then Northern Access has a second tranche in three -- coming in, in November '16, they filed at FERC.  I take it they -- do you know whether they have approval yet at FERC?  I take it not, eh?  This...

MR. SHORTS:  Not when this chart was put together, it was not.

MR. BRETT:  No.  And when was this chart put together, just before you filed, I suppose, or July?

MR. SHORTS:  This chart was the best available information when we were answering the interrogatories, so a couple of weeks ago, three weeks ago or so, whenever that was.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, the Rover pipeline, they filed -- I will just leave that, because that is a massive -- I think there is a number of IRs that deal with that, and you have spoken to some people about it.

Now, ANR East, I just wasn't sure.  Why is that a negative number?  Do you know?  What does that mean, "Clarington to feed ANR pipeline" --


MR. SHORTS:  No.  That's a squiggly line.  That's an approximate I'm thinking of.

MR. BRETT:  I was trying to figure out where the hell that was going.

Okay.  South to north, that's Iroquois.  Now, that -- there was a fair amount of talk about that at one point.  Is that -- it's been announced, have they put together a filing yet at FERC as far as you are aware, or is that still sort of in Never Never Land?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm not sure of the status of that other than the fact that it was announced.  I haven't seen anything in regards to the FERC filing.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  And then Nexus we've talked about.  And Atlantic Bridge --


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  For Nexus that is not minus two.  That is the squiggly line as well on that one.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  And Atlantic Bridge is -- this involves, I guess, ultimately a reversal of the M&N line, eh, to some degree?  Is that -- do you know whether that has been filed?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't believe so.  It's just been announced.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  There has been quite a bit of discussion about the liquid hub, and I don't think I will try to add to it at the moment.

Now, there's a question -- a question about direct access to the supply area.  This is BOMA 9.  And I wanted to ask you, as a gas supply person:  Is there a lot of difference between buying gas at -- let's do it this way.

Let's say on the one hand you're going to buy -- let me back up half a step.

In connection with Nexus, is your intent to buy gas basically in the field at Kensington, or...

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And you will be -- that was the discussion you had a bit earlier this morning.  You would be buying from several producers there.

And then there's the question of -- the question of pricing.  There's the question I think you were discussing this morning, and that will sort of work it itself out as between Dawn price and a field price and best negotiation, effectively.

MR. SHORTS:  We will RFP those supplies going forward and from month to month.  We will buy some on a term basis.  We will buy -- take a diverse approach.  We will buy some on a month-to-month.  We will probably buy seasonally.  We will look at various ways to buy that gas and to fill the 150,000 on an ongoing basis.

MR. BRETT:  I see.  Okay.  So it won't be necessarily 150,000 year round, like on a 15-year term or something like that.  It'll be --


MR. SHORTS:  No, no.  We will have a diversity of term and --


MR. BRETT:  It's totally different from the transportation?  It will be just -- yeah.  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  But it is all system gas.  Right?

MR. SHORTS:  It is all sales/service system gas.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, okay.  So for the direct purchaser, what he basically -- he's not involved in that.  He will buy at Dawn, essentially?

MR. SHORTS:  That's the expectation.

MR. BRETT:  But he -- I don't think -- he's not able to go in the field and buy, at least in Ohio.

MR. SHORTS:  Nothing stops a customer from potentially going to enlist the help of a third party that could do that, if they so chose.  But traditionally what we've seen is customers can't make that commitment.  That's why the utilities have to make the commitment to the upstream pipe.

MR. BRETT:  I suppose unless you had a marketer that was buying -- a large marketer or something that took capacity on the pipeline.  Well, still he would sell at Dawn, I guess.  Okay.

So the question is, getting back to my question there: Is there any difference in your mind -- and if there is, what is it in terms of the efficacy of being able to purchase gas in the field?  And let's assume for a moment you were doing a transaction at Niagara, and I guess you could have a transaction hypothetically at Niagara where you -- I mean, you don't have it now.  But I'm saying you could hypothetically have a project from Marcellus into Niagara in which you took an interest in that pipeline, and you could buy in the field at Marcellus just like you are going to buy in the field at Utica in this case.

But you could also buy at Niagara, which is what some people are doing now, or you could buy at Dawn.  Let's take your case.  Let's not mess it up with Niagara.

Is there an advantage to you in buying in the field near Kensington, or wherever, as opposed to buying at Dawn?  That's, I guess, the question.  And if so, how do you see that?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, one of the things you have to take into account is the fact that the utilities are the only ones that have the ability to be able to contract and commit to a large-scale project like a Nexus to be able to ensure that there's going to be sufficient supply at Dawn going forward.

So when we look at our gas supply planning, our gas supply plan, we will look at not only buying gas in the field zone, which is what we tend to do for -- let's say, in any particular year, 80 to 85, 90 to 95 percent tends to be that way.  We will still buy some of our gas supply at Dawn, but the utilities' role is one of the -- one of our main roles is to ensure there is sufficient infrastructure upstream to be able to make sure that those new large connections and infrastructure projects take place much like Nexus.

MR. BRETT:  Plus, even if you were buying in relation to an area where you had strong existing infrastructure, I take it, everything else being equal, you would prefer to hold capacity on those pipelines?

MR. SHORTS:  As the utility, we tend to prefer to hold the pipeline capacity and buy in the field zone.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, yes.  Okay.  Just bear with me a moment, here.  I'm looking at these because, in some cases where there is a clear answer, I'm not -- I don't want to repeat the question.  And in some cases, they're questions from Sussex that are kind of mingled in here.

Okay.  Now with respect of BOMA 12 -- just give me a moment, please.  Yes, just one other question with respect to capacity.  And I may come back to this, but overall there is a table you discussed this morning showing the deliveries to Dawn and what piece Union had, what piece Enbridge has, and what piece the three producers had.  I think you discussed that with Mr. Wolnik.

Now, is the Nexus pipeline -- overall, is it fully contracted now in the sense of are there precedent agreements for the entire amount, or where does that stand, as far as you are aware?

MR. SHORTS:  We don't know exactly how much of the capacity is contracted.  We do know the parties.  We do know the parties that have been made public, being the DTE, Enbridge, and Union.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  And the three producers.

MR. SHORTS:  And the three producers.  We don't know, amongst those three producers, how much capacity they have contracted for, but we do know that Nexus has told us it's sufficient capacity for them to move the project forward.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah.  So when they get around to applying to FERC, which I guess you're thinking is later this fall, you mentioned, will they need to show a full contract, a full deck of precedent agreements?  I guess they will, at that stage?  Or do you know?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHORTS:  I know they have to show that they have commitments on the pipe.  I don't believe they actually have to file the precedent agreements --


MR. BRETT:  No.

MR. SHORTS:  -- that they have executed with the individual parties.

MR. BRETT:  But they have to be able to state that they have precedent agreements?

MR. SHORTS:  Oh, yes, yes.  They will have to be able to support the capacity that they have committed, that has been committed on the pipeline.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. SHORTS:  So, for example, if you look at Rover's FERC filing, I believe they list their producers like -- or shippers, A, B, C, D, et cetera, all down and then show various volume commitments.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry, yes, I see.  In other words, they don't have to disclose the identity of their producers at that stage?

MR. SHORTS:  Not at that -- I didn't see on that chart.  They just name them "A" through "F," or something like that.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Okay.

Now, on BOMA 12 we talk about rates.  And I -- this gets a little complicated, but essentially -- I wonder if you could do this.  I mean, this was -- your answer was very helpful here.  What I was trying to do is get my mind around the precedent agreement, the rates agreement that you had filed as an appendix, and a couple of other pieces -- a couple of other documents.

But can you take, or are you able to kind of take me through the steps that you go through -- that Nexus goes through when they file this at FERC?

I guess my overall question is:  How does the negotiated rate that you have arrived at with the Nexus entity or entities -- how does that fare?  How does that match up with FERC-setting rates ultimately?  Does FERC have to accept your negotiated rate or do they -- can they set what they call a recourse rate, and could that be different than your negotiated rate?  Can you just talk a bit about that?

MR. SHORTS:  There will be a cost of service based recourse rate that they will have, and they will have that rate approved, and that rate will obviously be subject to whatever costs ultimately turn out for the project.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. SHORTS:  That rate, much like other cost of service rates, would have the opportunity to change over time.

MR. BRETT:  That would be filed at FERC.

MR. SHORTS:  That would be filed at FERC.

MR. BRETT:  And that changes as you go along.

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  Now, how does that, then -- but effectively are you saying that, regardless of that process, your negotiated rate would prevail?  In other words -- that's not a good way to put it.

You're only going to pay your negotiated rate.  What the pipeline has to pay, what the pipeline can get -- let's say the cost of service rate, for the sake of argument, is 10 percent higher than your negotiated rate.  The pipeline can't turn around and charge you the extra 10 percent, can they, or can they?

MR. SHORTS:  No, no.  We have the negotiated rate that we would have, and it would be fixed for the term of the agreement.

MR. BRETT:  So then they absorb that, effectively?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Mm-hmm.  Okay.

Now I am just going to jump over here to the next -- this tab system doesn't make life -- well, I guess it makes life easier for some, but I don't know if it makes it easier for me.  I'm looking for the T2 BOMA.  Okay.

Okay.  So we've asked about the comparison of costs, Niagara and Kirkwall, and you referred us to Staff 7.  And Staff 7, if I can just go back to that -- wait a minute.  That's tab 7 in T2 Staff 7 -- or is it T1?  T1, Staff 7.  All right.  Staff 7.

Okay.  So you did a landed cost analysis here, and you included Rover and -- now, what this shows is that, if you took your median X price not either -- neither decreased nor increased, you would be at 8.49, and it would be a little more than Rover and about 30 cents higher than TCPL Niagara to Kirkwall.  Am I reading this correctly?

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, Mr. Brett.  I'm not following your numbers.  You said the median number was eight --


MR. BRETT:  Sorry.  I'm looking at -- yes, I'm looking at 7, the table at the bottom.  And you've got three numbers there for Nexus.

MR. SHORTS:  Right.

MR. BRETT:  And you showed a number on the high end, the low end, and then the base number, I will call it, the 8.38.

MR. SHORTS:  8.38 is the base number.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  That's what I --


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  That's what I -- right, that's what I'm taking.

MR. SHORTS:  Okay.

MR. BRETT:  So if I take that number and compare it to Rover 8.36 -- and maybe a caveat on Rover, which I see by the footnote it is an indicative price, but it -- so you're two cents over Rover, and you're 18 cents over -- 28 cents over Kirkwall through Niagara.  Is that the correct way to read that?

MR. SHORTS:  Based on the time that the landed cost was done and the assumptions supporting it, that was the result.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And have you -- I mean, you've mentioned -- this is fairly recent.  Do you have any reason to think that has changed the last couple of weeks?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't think there's anything that's probably changed that.  Again, I can't recall when we -- this was probably the one done back in January of this year.  So certainly things could have changed, but I don't know off the top of my head what that would look like if we did it today.

MR. BRETT:  Would you be able to take an undertaking to update that?

MR. KEIZER:  So, Tom, just to clarify, whether the numbers have changed or -- in that table?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  What the new numbers would be as of the latest reasonable time to -- you know, I mean, I guess these are numbers that were on a day probably.  And I -- you know, I -- at least part of landed cost can -- the commodity part can -- I understand and appreciate it can move around.

But if you took a --


MR. GILLETT:  If you look at --


MR. BRETT:  Well, maybe an average would be better.  What if you took an average monthly -- an average of the months between January and now?

MR. GILLETT:  So what we have, the numbers in Staff 7 that you're referring to in that table were from landed cost analysis from January of this year.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. GILLETT:  If you want landed costs with updated forecast numbers, updated foreign exchange rates, you can look at TCPL 2.  So they --


MR. BRETT:  All right.  That's in there now --


MR. GILLETT:  Yes.  They had requested that be done.  So if you look at TCPL 2, you can actually see updated landed cost numbers that you could then plug into column B --


MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. GILLETT:  -- of that table.

MR. BRETT:  Okay, I see it.  Okay.  That's fine.  I understand.  Okay.  Let's leave it.  I can do the -- even I can do that arithmetic.

Okay.  So now back to BOMA 24.  Now, this is a -- I know it is a question you have a lot in a lot of different proceedings.  You put me back to BOMA 29.  Union Staff 17.  All right.  Let me just look at BOMA 29.  Can somebody turn up 29?  Here we go.

Okay.  Well, this will conflate two questions I've got, deal with them both.  Are you able to say whether you intend to purchase additional gas at Dawn -- sorry, at Niagara or bring gas through Niagara in the next few years?  And whether -- first of all, just that.

I asked -- as you probably will remember, I asked Mr. Isherwood this question about a year ago, I think, and he at that time said he had no current plans to do so.  I kind of was left with the impression it wasn't high on the agenda; that you would probably be having a Dawn project, which you now have.

But do you have another -- is there anything you can add?

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry.  This is BOMA 29?

MR. BRETT:  No.  This is BOMA 24 now.

MR. SHORTS:  Oh, sorry.

MR. BRETT:  It's actually my interpretation.  I'm kind of -- I'm trying to pull out two things at once.

BOMA 24 asks:  Do you intend to buy gas at Niagara or through Niagara in the next few years?  Then the second question there is:  Can a direct purchaser do that?  In other words, do you have a mechanism for a direct purchaser, or would there be anything stopping a direct purchaser from buying gas, say, taking the liberty of gas at Kirkwall?

MR. SHORTS:  I will answer the second question first.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, okay.

MR. SHORTS:  Direct purchase customers could enlist the assistance of a third-party provider.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. SHORTS:  And potentially contract or get volumes from Niagara to Kirkwall.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. SHORTS:  Or to wherever to meet their either Dawn or Parkway obligation on Union's system.  Nothing really stops a direct purchase customer from doing that today.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  If I could just ask you to pause for a second.  You have got Dawn obligation, and I think your current system is you have obligation -- your obligations are either at Dawn or Parkway.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.  For Union South.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  For Union South.  If a party wanted to substitute Kirkwall for Dawn, would that be possible under your current regime?

MR. SHORTS:  No, because customers have really only requested Dawn.  All of our services are designed to get customers back to Dawn.  That's where customers requested through the Parkway delivery obligation, also through the suspension of vertical slice.

So it doesn't stop a customer from going to a third-party provider and moving that gas through a mechanism to Dawn.  But their obligation point for the most part will be Dawn going forward.

MR. BRETT:  Basically at the moment, I mean, the way you're set up, you don't, for want of a better word -- I mean, you don't have a contract carriage arrangement for -- at Kirkwall?  Is that the way you -- let me put that another way.

You don't really have -- it really isn't open to a customer to take delivery at Kirkwall as opposed to taking delivery at Dawn, eh?

[Witness consults]

MR. TETREAULT:  No.  If I understand your question correctly, Mr. Brett, there is no Kirkwall obligation right now.

MR. BRETT:  That's what I'm asking.

MR. TETREAULT:  But what customers can do, as Mr. Shorts was alluding to, is if a customer directly or through a third party or marketer could land gas at Kirkwall, they could then avail themselves of ex-franchise services on Union's system from Kirkwall to either Dawn or Parkway --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. TETREAULT:  -- to meet an obligation at either point.

MR. BRETT:  I see what you're saying.  So they could take the C1 from Kirkwall to Parkway, for example?

MR. TETREAULT:  As an example, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Could I ask you to -- let's just see here.  Could I ask you to turn over to the contract, the precedent agreement, which is filed in here in the evidence binder at -- the one I have been looking at, at least, is Exhibit A, Schedule 1, page 1 of 68, restated precedent agreement.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we have that.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, I just want to go through a few points here.  The first is, is this the most recent -- is this the current agreement?  This is the most recent one?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's the current agreement.

MR. BRETT:  The operative one?  Now, in here, if you look at the introductory piece of this, you have stated precedent agreement.  It's among three parties.  It's the -- among DTE Pipeline Company, a Michigan corporation, Spectra Energy Transmission LLC, a Delaware company, and Union.

And the two companies, Spectra and DTE -- which I just use that as a short form -- they're referred to as the pipeline.

Now, I am assuming -- and just correct me if I'm wrong, but I won't ask you about the DTE structure because you probably haven't really dug into that.  But the Spectra Energy Transmission LLC, I take it, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Spectra.  Correct?  Spectra Energy?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And the -- and I noted in the FERC filing, the pre-filing document of FERC, that there is reference to -- I don't think this -- I won't ask you to turn it up.  I'm not altogether sure it is in evidence.

But in this little, short pre-filing document that the entities have made at FERC, they refer to the two companies as effectively -- not effectively -- they refer to the two companies as co-developers.  Do you recall that?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.  It's being developed by both companies equally.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  Now -- okay.  Just bear with me.  I'm going to flip through this.  I've marked a couple of items here.

So the -- you speak of -- if we go to section -- page 7 of 68, you talk there of a service agreement, or it speaks of a service agreement.  And I take it that is the agreement that is signed once the pipeline gets FERC approval.  Right?  Once the thing is all approved?

MR. SHORTS:  That would be the contract.  This whole package includes -- is part of the service agreement.  But the actual contract that we will sign will be once they get their FERC approval, likely sometime early in 2017.

MR. BRETT:  Fair enough.  Now, if I turn over to page 8.  And there's a -- there's a sentence that starts at the bottom of page -- well I guess I better start at the last full sentence on page 7.  I'm just going to read it just to give you a chance to sort of savour it here a bit.  "Prior to the effective date --" which is the date of this document, I believe.
"-- the parties acknowledge that Pipeline has provided a customer copies of the rate agreement and a table of the expected contents of general terms and conditions that will be incorporated by reference into the transportation service agreement to form the applicable FERC gas tariff as well as any changes to the illustrative form of transportation service agreement in Exhibit A."

And, as you said, there is a package of agreements, "collectively, the Forms of Commercial Agreements."

Now, just so I am more or less on the right road, the effective date is the effective date of this contract that we're looking at.  Right?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  And it's the date it was signed?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  So it's passed, in other words.  And it says it will consider in good faith any comments provided by the customer.

Did you have -- did you have comments on it that they considered, or did you -- were you all right with it initially?

MR. SHORTS:  It's based on a standard contract.  I believe it's Texas Eastern standard.  We didn't have any concerns or comments.

MR. BRETT:  This was the contract itself?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  The form of contract.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, yes.  Okay.  It is a fairly short document, isn't it?  Fairly standard in form.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, there's a question -- further down on page 8:  "Status of Service Commencement Date."  It calls for Pipeline to report, you know, on a regular basis to you on progress.

And then it says here:
"No later than November 1 of 2015, Pipeline shall, in good faith, have notified customer of its bona fide estimate of the commencement date."

And then it goes on to say, if that bona fide estimate is after November 1, 2018, then the customer has the opportunity to get out.  Right?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And have they given you a bona fide estimate at this stage?

MR. SHORTS:  No, they have not.

MR. BRETT:  When did you expect you will get that?  Sort of right before November 1?

MR. SHORTS:  Prior to November 1.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah.  Okay.  But if they give you an estimate -- let me put it this way.  This is a bit broader question.  But if they give you the estimate, and let's say the estimate is, you know, for November 1, 2017, which I think is the now-anticipated or hoped for commencement date.  They give you that estimate or they give you an estimate, you know, three months later.  Let's say February of 2018.  Then so long as they don't -- so long as that estimate is not after November 1, 2018, you're in.  You can't withdraw.  Right?

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And then if they give you that estimate but they don't actually complete it in time -- let's say they give you the estimate for November 1, 2017, but they don't complete the -- they don't complete the construction; they don't allow you -- they're not in service; they don't place their asset in service until whenever, are you still -- it seems -- are you still locked in, essentially?

MR. SHORTS:  At that point in time, we would be.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  But what happens if, let's say, they're later -- say they're a year late.  Are you still locked in at that stage?  And, you know, I don't mean in their estimate.  I mean in what actually happens on the ground.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHORTS:  Certainly expectation from post November 1 of 2018, we are getting quarterly updates and would continue to get quarterly updates.  So we would know if there was a concern fairly early on, if they didn't think they were going to meet that deadline.  We do have the ability within this contract to come to a mutually agreeable new start date if it was past November 1, 2018.  And we would do that -- if there was something that seemed to be a fairly -- you know, something that we could handle and something that would happen in a reasonable time period, we would renegotiate that start.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  And, I mean, I'm not suggesting that -- for a moment that they wouldn't negotiate with you.  I mean, you're in a sense part of the same family.  But would you be entitled to withdraw unilaterally based simply on their being late?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  We have the same -- we would have the same terms and conditions as the other anchor shippers that have the most favoured nation clause.

MR. BRETT:  You're in the same boat.

MR. SHORTS:  We're in the same boat.  So it is definitely in their best interest to maintain and ensure that they meet that in-service date.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. SHORTS:  You know, if you look at the drivers behind them building the project, they want to continue to make sure that project is on time, in on budget, to stay competitive with the other options that are out there.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, yes.  Because ultimately people would -- I guess, ultimately some shippers might very well just walk away at a certain point, take the consequences.

MR. SHORTS:  They could pay the preservice cost share and walk.

MR. BRETT:  The preservice cost share is -- without turning to it, I know I have a question against it.  And the question I have -- and you can turn to it.  Let me just see.

I can tell you -- well, let me find it here.  It is better to do it this way so you know what we're talking about.

What caught my eye there, briefly, was that the -- there's a cap on the preservice cost share.  And the cap is expressed as a cap that you might have to pay, the most you could be asked to pay, and I think it was $218 million.

Now, I am not trying to be an alarmist here.  I just want to make sure I get this right.  What they've done, it appears, is they've given themselves the right to effectively collect that money from the shippers pro rata, but I see your point about breach.  We're talking about breach here.  So if a few people breached, and -- well, I guess all I really wanted to have you confirm there is that, if a party were to breach, then they could be liable for up to $219 million.  Not likely, but they could be.

MR. SHORTS:  That's Union's number.  It would be potentially different for every other shipper depending on the volume that they had committed to.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. SHORTS:  But again, if there is any preservice costs, Nexus would also have the obligation to minimize those --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. SHORTS:  -- on a reasonable efforts basis --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. SHORTS:  -- the best way they can for the -- on behalf of the shipper.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Just let me check a couple more things here.  Now, have you -- there is the rate agreement that's also talked about in here, and you've already signed the rate agreement, I guess, have you?

MR. SHORTS:  The rate agreement formed part of the precedent agreement.  It was a part of the precedent agreement.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  And then the -- could you look at page 11 for a moment, 11 of 68?  There's a section there called "Commencement of Service," and it says "Reserved."

Do you know what that is reserved for?  Do you know what's supposed to go in there?

MR. SHORTS:  When we went from the original precedent agreement to the second -- this restated precedent agreement --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. SHORTS:  -- what happened was we had a phase 1 in the original precedent agreement.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. SHORTS:  So rather than going through and trying to change all the other references that might change because they took that out --


MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. SHORTS:  -- they just left that in as empty and reserved.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  But it really replied -- or pertained to the phase 1 on the original precedent agreement, which was no longer applicable.

MR. BRETT:  Okay, I see.  Thank you.

Now, there's a -- if you go to page 32, just briefly on the assignments, there's a provision here that talks about -- these are the assignments that you are permitted to do, you know, without the approval of the other party.  And one of them is buy pipeline or either DTE or Spectra to Nexus Gas Transmission LLC.

Now, I take it -- am I right in thinking Nexus Gas Transmission LLC is a corporation that is yet to be operative?  It probably becomes operative after you get the final approvals?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm not sure when it would become operative.  But it definitely would be where these will ultimately end up in.

MR. BRETT:  At some point?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. SCHUCH:  It is getting to that time of the afternoon when it can get warm on that side of the room.  We've got some hazy sunshine out there, but, witnesses, feel free to take your jackets off if you are warm, or anyone else for that matter.  This is not a hearing.

MR. KEIZER:  Is it possible to close the blinds?

MR. SCHUCH:  Yes, it is possible to close the blinds.  The whole room will be closed at that point.

Next, I think, was CME.

MR. DeROSE:  Thanks, Colin.
Examination by Mr. DeRose: 

MR. DeROSE:  Panel, I expect that I am going to be a little bit shorter than my friends that have gone before me.  A number of the questions I was going to ask have been already answered, but I wanted to start with a better understanding -- and maybe let me start by explaining to you the -- sort of the challenge that I had when I went through both your IRs and the IRs of Enbridge.  And one of the things that I have attempted is to get a better understanding of what are the benefits that you have received as an anchor shipper, and I wanted to go through some of those with you and then just to see if there are others.

First of all, as I understand it, you have the MFN, so that would be one benefit that you would have because of being an anchor shipper.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And then let me just go through a couple of other items that I think, when I compare your PA to the PA of Enbridge, that I think they're the same.

First of all, the capital cost tracker mechanism in your PA, I believe, operates the same as Enbridge's.  So that is not an advantage of being an anchor shipper.  Is that right?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.  It's the same.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the ability to choose a reservation rate instead of the negotiated toll, again, you would both have that right, although I appreciate -- and I think we will get to that in a moment -- that your rate and -- well, your rate would be lower than Enbridge's.  Correct?  As an anchor shipper?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  Our rate on the greenfield portion is lower than Enbridge's.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And am I right that, if you were to exercise your reservation rate, presumably it would also be lower than the reservation rate of a non-anchor shipper?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm sorry.  I don't understand the question.

MR. DeROSE:  Sorry.  If you were to choose a reservation rate instead of a negotiated toll...

MR. SHORTS:  Oh, the recourse rate?  Sorry, different terminology, but I know what you mean.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  The recourse rate.  Again, there would be some benefit for you as an anchor shipper, or would there be?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHORTS:  We have the ability, because we have the MFN, to choose to take the recourse rate.  But our expectation is that rate would be higher, and it would basically be the same as all other shippers who chose the recourse rate.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now -- and I'm sorry.  I'm just going to take a slight -- just because you're talking about a recourse rate, could I just have you pull up CME No. 3?  This is B, tab 3, Union.CME 3.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, I have it.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And if you see in your response in the third paragraph -- and I appreciate we're just talking about ratepayer risks in this question, so it is not exactly what I was asking you, but you list the ability to choose the reservation rate instead of the negotiated toll.  In that context, is the reservation rate and the recourse rate the same thing?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, it is.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So we are talking about the same thing.

Now, so just going back to the benefits of being an anchor shipper, you get a lower negotiated toll.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And is that only for the greenfield piece?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, the other piece we had was to -- we had the ability to also choose an alternate delivery point, being the St. Clair interconnect --


MR. DeROSE:  Right.

MR. SHORTS:  -- which then, in and of itself, allowed us to save ratepayers about four cents U.S. by choosing that route versus the Vector route.

MR. DeROSE:  Right.  And on that, can I have you turn up LPMA No. 5?  Because I think you set that out there, but I had some questions about that.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we have LPMA 5.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And if you go to page 2 of 2.  Do you have that?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, I do.

MR. DeROSE:  So this is where you show the tolls on your negotiated path versus Vector.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  That's the tolls on our negotiated path versus the Vector path that Enbridge is using and the path that would have ultimately been ours had we gone the Vector path as well.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And then in terms of -- first of all, when you were talking to Mr. Brett, you said that there were no costs on the Canadian side.  But in your negotiated path, you have 3.5 cents from St. Clair to Dawn.  Those would be costs on the Canadian side, or am I wrong on that?

MR. SHORTS:  Those aren't costs to Nexus.  Those are costs that we already have embedded within customers' delivery rates, because it is part of Union's infrastructure.

MR. DeROSE:  Oh, I've got you.  So that 3.5 cents -- well, are --


MR. TETREAULT:  Vince, it is Greg.  That 3.5 cents is the Board-approved C1 rate.

MR. DeROSE:  Oh, okay.  So that is already in rates, but when we're looking at what it actually costs for you to get the gas to Dawn, that 80.5, that 3.5 is included?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  Sales service customers will pay that 30.5 cents to move the gas that is landing at St. Clair to Dawn.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And then one of the things that I have had a bit of a challenge, and I have to tell you in part it is because I think the tolls are being -- at various places between your evidence and Enbridge's evidence, it's in GJs; it is in dekatherms; and it's a variety of different pieces.

But if I am looking for an apples-to-apples comparison of the Kensington to Willow Run, so the greenfield piece, yours is 63.5.  Is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And if you don't know this, I will ask it to Enbridge, but am I right that Enbridge's is 67?

MR. SHORTS:  I believe Enbridge's is 65.

MR. DeROSE:  Sixty-five, okay.  We can confirm that with Enbridge.

And so that would be in terms of the difference between being an anchor shipper and a non-anchor shipper such as Enbridge is the 1.5 cents, just in terms of the Kensington to Willow Run?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Is that -- that's an apples-to-apples comparison?

MR. SHORTS:  That is apples-to-apples.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And are there any other pieces of the tolls between yourself and Enbridge that would be apples-to-apples?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHORTS:  So if you turned up FRPO 21 -- T-4, sorry, FRPO 21.

MR. DeROSE:  FRPO --


MR. SHORTS:  FRPO T-4, 21.

MR. DeROSE:  I've got it, yes.

MR. SHORTS:  That also shows some comparisons with Enbridge, so that gives you some more apples-to-apples comparisons.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Now, but again -- so the 63.5 to 65 is an apples-to-apples.  Right?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  But your 77 compared to Enbridge's 70, that would not be an apples-to-apples, would it?  Because they're going to Milford, and you're going to St. Clair.

MR. SHORTS:  It's apples-to-apples when you compare it to what Enbridge will be paying Nexus and what Union will be paying Nexus.  That's what I meant by an apples-to-apples.

MR. DeROSE:  But in terms of the 63.5 versus 65 you are paying, that's the piece of what you're paying and the piece of Enbridge that Enbridge is paying, which are for the identical service?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.  The identical service over the identical distance.

MR. DeROSE:  Right.  Whereas the next column over, where you have rate to delivery point -- so you are at 77; DTE is at 69.5; and Enbridge is at 70 -- those are actually for different distances?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, in terms of the benefits of being an anchor shipper, we talked about the MFN and we talked about the lower rate.  I guess the lower greenfield rate, certainly.  Are there other benefits to being an anchor shipper that we have not talked about?

MR. SHORTS:  One of the things, Vince, just to keep in mind is that, certainly, when Nexus understood that both Enbridge and Union were going to have a condition precedent for Board approval, they knew the contracts would be public, and they would be compared.  So I think Nexus has done a very good job working with us and trying to get the best possible combination of services for both Union and Enbridge, knowing that they would be looked upon for commonality, et cetera.

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  And don't take any of my questions as criticism.  I was just trying to understand sort of what's the incremental benefit that Union has received for being an anchor shipper.  That's sort of what I am trying to...

MR. SHORTS:  And we've covered off those already.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So that's the MFN and the better rate?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And I take it that -- actually, I don't have to go any further on that.  That's fine.  Okay.  Thank you very much for that.

Now if I can take you to CME No. 4.  This is B, tab 3.  Just let me know when you have that.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, I have that.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, in this answer, we're asking about the Union -- the risks that you would identify for ratepayers.  And you say that the ratepayer risk, if the Board preapproves the cost consequences of Nexus, are no different than any other long-term contract except for the fact that the tolls are known for the next 15 years.

I guess what I would like to try to understand is, if the risks are no different for the ratepayers on the cost consequences for any other long-term contract, why are the risks, in your mind, different for the shareholder that requires the preapproval?  It seems to me that, if it is no different for the ratepayer, why would it be no different for the shareholder?

MR. SHORTS:  Union has taken considerable time to ensure that, the way we've negotiated the PA, that it covers off and mitigates the risks of the ratepayer.  Because of the substantial financial commitment, $715 million, the long-term nature, the fact that it makes upwards of 30 percent of our overall transportation portfolio costs, those are the kind of -- that's the rationale and the reason why we have sought OEB approval for the cost consequences.  It's really what the process was designed to do, understanding the fact that, you know, the utility has a fair risk that they take on when they're committing to something like this for a long-term nature and so that we don't have ex post facto, if I actually say that right, review of the costs.

MR. DeROSE:  And, again, we can turn up in CME 3 -- so that is the tab right before.  You talk about the significant cost exposure.

When you talk about the cost exposure and the risks for the shareholder, is that on the theory that, if you were to enter into the contract without preapproval, that the Board could find -- could not approve the contract in its entirety?  I guess, what would you see as the realistic risks?  Is it a regulatory risk?

MR. KEIZER:  Vince, it is Charles.  It is regulatory risk.  It's risk of coming forward after the contract is signed with respect to it and seeking approval at that point, given the magnitude and size of the contract and the length of term.

And what the witness, I think, has said is that, from the ratepayers' perspective, the contract has built in certain protections with respect to capping costs and other things, so that over the period of time, the ratepayer has -- risks has been mitigated, but the shareholder's risks, without the preapproval, are wholly unmitigated.  So that's the nature of the risk --


MR. DeROSE:  Charles, and either to you or to the panel, do you view the risk as the risk of the entire cost of the contract?  What is that -- have you tried to quantify that risk?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, it's a bit difficult, because, to some extent, you have to prejudge what the Board would say.  But I think you have to take it to the point of, if the Board reached the conclusion that some of the costs associated with it or that the contract itself, given the length of term or other things, were found not to be prudently incurred or otherwise, then that risk is, unfortunately, because you can't measure the degree of risk because you can't measure what the Board is actually going to say.  You are truly exposed for everything because there is no way to actually understand what your exposure would be.  So the only way you can do that is try to mitigate that exposure by seeking preapproval.

MR. DeROSE:  And, I guess, to the panel or Charles, I guess, whoever is the right person to answer this:  Are you aware of the Board ever denying recovery of all of the costs of a long-term either transportation or supply contract?  I am not.  But are you aware of -- first of all, let's start with the denying recovery of all of the costs.

MR. KEIZER:  Just give us a moment, Vince.

MR. KITCHEN:  Hi, Vince.  It is Mark.  Everyone seems to be looking at each other here, not knowing who is going to answer, so I think I will.

The only recollection I have -- and I think we should probably just confirm this with Enbridge -- but I believe that a portion of the Alliance Vector contract was found to be imprudent or costs to be imprudently incurred for them, but I need to confirm that with Enbridge.

MR. DeROSE:  And I think it's probably easier if we just ask them the question tomorrow, and Enbridge is on notice that they will get asked about that.

I mean, I can tell you I tried to go back and look at this issue, and Alliance Vector is the only one that I found that had a portion of their costs denied as imprudent, but it wasn't -- I mean, it wasn't the entire contract.  It was a portion of it.

MR. KITCHEN:  And that's right.  That is how I recall it as well.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  That's fair.  Thank you very much.  Those are all my questions.  And I'm sorry.  I don't think we need an undertaking for you to go and ask Enbridge.  They're here tomorrow.  We can ask them about Alliance Vector, unless, Mike Millar, you have a different view?

MR. MILLAR:  No, that's fine.

Okay.  Thank you, Vince.

Why don't we take our afternoon break, unless -- we've got Energy Probe next in the list.  How long do you expect to be?

MR. YAUCH:  Maybe 10 minutes, 15 minutes.

MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we do that?  We will finish Energy Probe and then we will take our break.
Examination by Mr. Yauch:

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  I'm going to ask a couple of questions on behalf of Shelley Grice as well, so I'm going to do those first.

So Union has indicated that there's a minimum level of shipper commitment they need to go ahead.  But they haven't really clarified what that minimum level is.  Is there any evidence as to how -- how many people need to sign on to it before it can go ahead?

MR. SHORTS:  You know, as we have mentioned, we don't know the answer to that question.  But, you know, it is certainly our view that the combination of Union and Enbridge and the amount of capacity that we have committed to on the path to Dawn, as well as on the greenfield side, is significant enough that, if we dropped out, it would cause others to second-guess on the nature of their commitment.

You know, we look at ourselves from a Dawn perspective.  Most of the suppliers look to us as the experts.  And if we dropped out of this, it would potentially cause them concern, not only Nexus shippers, but I would say Rover shippers as well who are not also versed at Canadian and Dawn activity.

They would look at that as potentially not a good market signal and not a good endorsement of Dawn.  So right now, what the project is, is going forward, and the level of commitment as it stands today is sufficient, but going forward, if for some reason we did not get Board approval and Union did not carry forward, whether or not that would put the project in jeopardy, it certainly wouldn't give a proper -- it wouldn't give the right market signal and certainly could lead to others second-guessing their participation.

MR. YAUCH:  But if the Board asked for evidence for either way, this is kind of a feeling that, if one company backs out, then the project is off.  Right?  I mean, there is no...

MR. SHORTS:  Again, it could be a ripple effect.  We just don't know.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  That's fine.

The other question I have is in relation to the value of the Canadian dollar.  So if it fluctuates higher or lower significantly, do the economics of the Nexus project compared to other pipelines change?  Do other pipelines become more economic with the lower Canadian dollar or Nexus, or does it have any ripple effect on all of the pipelines being considered?

MR. GILLETT:  So if you look at landed cost analysis that we provided in Staff 18, what was requested was a foreign exchange rate of 1.4, and so what we did is we performed the landed cost analysis of Nexus and the other alternative paths.  And what you will see is the relative ranking of them, of the projects, do not -- or the paths, rather, do not change.  It has an effect on the landed costs in the end, mostly due to the final conversion to gJs, but ultimately it would not necessarily change the landed cost analysis we performed.

MR. YAUCH:  So Rover doesn't become more economic compared to Nexus, and...

MR. GILLETT:  No.  You can see that impact in that table.  The relative rankings remain the same.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  Union mentioned preservice development costs if this doesn't go through.  Is there any idea of what those are and how much they are?

MR. SHORTS:  At this point in time, we would not have an idea of what those preservice costs were at this point in time.

MR. YAUCH:  And is there any evidence of what incentives Union's getting for the Nexus project compared to the Rover project?  So I understand that obviously you are not involved in the Rover project, but what makes this more attractive to Union than a Rover project?

MR. SHORTS:  You really have to look at the Rover project from the perspective of a timeline.  So when we go back to when Rover became a project or became known to us, that -- Rover was already happening.  They already had enough capacity committed to go forward.

From a Union perspective, they had a much higher threshold to qualify for a most favoured nations.  You also had to commit for a longer period of time, 20 years, to get a negotiated fixed rate.  If not, you were going to be subject to the recourse rate on your rate, and that would have potentially been higher for sure than the negotiated rate as well as could have fluctuated over time.

MR. YAUCH:  This one might be simple, but I just want to be clear.  So Union says that the Nexus project will save its customers $700 million over the length of the contract, but the costs of the project is $715 million.  So the net cost is actually 15 million.  I mean, you're saving 700 million, but you're spending 715 million.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  The $715 million is the demand charge on it for the term.  Its comparative to the landed cost is the $700 million compared to the current forecasted portfolio of Alliance and TransCanada with western Canadian supplies.

So the savings are done on a landed cost basis, but the $715 million commitment is just the transportation commitment.  It doesn't bring into that the commodity cost impact and the savings that would result from Nexus versus --


MR. YAUCH:  So the savings are more -- in this liquidity idea that you might get, is that more where the savings are going to come from, that lower costs will result in more liquidity and more trading and so on?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHORTS:  The savings calculated include the $715 million commitment of the pipeline.  That's part of the cost for the transportation.  When you compare that landed cost, including the transportation, with the landed cost of the portfolio it's replacing or the components of the portfolio it is replacing, then that's where the $700 million in savings comes from.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  And my last question is:  Are there other long-term contracts like this that Union has sought preapproval from the Board, or is this the first time it is doing this?  Are there examples of other gas pipelines that are doing this?  Or is this -- is this the first time?

MR. SHORTS:  Union has applied to the Board for preapproval in the past.  I'm just trying to recall which interrogatory that was.

MR. GILLETT:  Yes.  I believe there is an interrogatory that addresses that.  I believe Board Staff 2 includes the previous points in time which Union tried to get preapproval.

MR. SHORTS:  So if you look at Board Staff 2, T1 Board Staff 2, we did apply for preapproval, for example, for the Niagara contract.  And as I spoke about earlier this morning, they're really not comparable to the current application because of the order of magnitude that we're talking about.

MR. YAUCH:  This is the first one of this scale, so this is kind of a first run of something of this size?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, this is really the -- this is the first major infrastructure project to Dawn since Alliance Vector back in 2000.  And that was -- that pre-dated the Board's process of seeking Board approval.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  That's all I have.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.  Let's take our lunch -- or, pardon me, our afternoon break and return at 3:15.
--- Recess taken at 3:00 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:18 p.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, everyone.  Why don't we continue?

Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, just before Mr. Rubenstein begins, just to clarify something that came from Mr. Brett's questions, and I have talked to Mr. Brett about this on the break, but just to put it on the record, he had some questions about the service commencement date and what if there were delays or otherwise.

And so just for purposes of clarification, certainly section 9, paragraph (a) of the precedent agreement relates to a termination of the precedent agreement in the event that there is a -- if we haven't got the service commencement date within one year of -- and the condition precedents have not been fulfilled, and in particular condition precedent 7(b)(viii) with respect to the completion of the construction of the pipeline.

So I just leave that for folks to look at.  It is a bit of a legal question, but ultimately I think those provisions may clarify Mr. Brett's questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

Mark?
Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thanks.  Can I ask you to turn to T2, Staff 12, Attachment 1?  And this is a summary of all of your upstream transportation contracts.

And if I'm looking at 2017 and I am focusing on Union South, Nexus will be the largest source.  Am I correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.  And I want to understand from you, if we're looking back over time, I see that Vector previously will have roughly the same -- a little bit more than 2017 for Nexus.  Would that have been in the Vector pipeline -- is that one single contract, or is that in multiple contracts you hold that capacity?

MR. SHORTS:  If you look at the column D, which is the 106,000 of Alliance -- or, sorry, Vector.  I'm sorry.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. SHORTS:  That would be a combination of two contracts.  And then when you see the Alliance Vector path above, there's -- that would also be a separate contract.  So we have a Vector contract for 80,000 dekatherms that will be ending the end of this November, of this year.  But that 106,000 down below is in addition to that.  And those contracts -- one continues until November 1 of '17, and the other one continues until November of '20.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So is the -- so let me ask this question first.  Is the Nexus pipeline going to be the single-largest contract that you will have ever -- that Union will have ever held on one single contract?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't know, because if we go back prior to direct purchase, Union would have held essentially one transportation contract with TransCanada for all of its services, and I would suspect that that contract would have been bigger than the 158,000 gJs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Let's say from the mid-'90s, 1995.  Let's -- I don't want to go back 60 years here, in the last 30 years.

MR. SHORTS:  Sure.  In the last -- I would say in the last 30 years, it would probably be the biggest contract -- single transportation contract Union has held.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And would it be by a significant margin?  I want to understand contract risk.  We're talking about supply risk.  I want to talk about contract risk, having one single contract for such a significant amount.

MR. SHORTS:  Well, we have one single contract for short haul on TransCanada of about 100,000 into the EDA from a contractual perspective.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Where do I see that on the chart here?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, it is a combination.  It is a combination to get to the 100.  It would be the combination of the EDA short haul contracts.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to provide a version of this chart that breaks it down by contracts?  So you said, with respect to Vector on the line 27 through 29, it is really two contracts.

And I don't know for --


MR. SHORTS:  Well, 27, 20 -- those lines for 27 to 29, we can tell you from a dekatherm basis the one contract is -- one contract is 80,000, and the other one is the remaining amount.  That's the breakout of that contract.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there any --


MR. SHORTS:  Those two contracts.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- where you actually have multiple contracts but that are not visible here?

MR. GILLETT:  Specifically in the south?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, that's why I'm asking.  Well, let's start with the south, yes.

MR. SHORTS:  No, there would be no others.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's the only one where you --


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  That's the only one that's combined.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What about in the north?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  Those are all separate contracts.

MR. GILLETT:  If you wanted to see the individual contracts to the north, TCPL 9 -- actually, that one -- TCPL 9 has two tables you can refer to.  One is all of our Vector contracts, so you can see the three of those and how they compose the lines on the table in Staff 12.  You can also see our long haul and short haul contracts that are with TransCanada.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Are you able to provide a similar chart with the expiry date for the other contracts in the non-TCPL contracts, so essentially a version of this chart here just showing where the contracts end for the non-TCPL contracts?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHORTS:  So that schedule would be a schedule that would be included in the gas supply memorandum that would be filed in mid-September that will show the expiry dates of the contracts.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I was unclear when Mr. Quinn got an undertaking, and it sort of was confusing to me.  Did you give an undertaking to provide that memorandum?

MR. KEIZER:  In this proceeding?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  No, we did not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, can you provide that memorandum?

MR. KEIZER:  Just a moment.

It's not finalized yet.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, can you provide the chart that you're referring to?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, we can provide -- it may not be the same chart, but it would be the -- what you're requesting is the expiry dates of the contracts that are non-TCPL contracts appearing in the IR response?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  We can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  UNION TO PROVIDE THE CHART REFERRED TO ABOVE

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, you talked with Mr. DeRose before the break about how some contracts are based on a long-term toll; some are based on cost of service.  There is a recourse toll that you -- sorry, there is a variable toll based on either cost of service or some other mechanism.  Am I correct?  The TCPL tolls --


MR. SHORTS:  TCPL tolls are -- yes --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- stuff like that.

MR. SHORT:  -- TCP tolls cost of service change over time.  Certain negotiated contracts would stay fixed over time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, with respect to your large contracts for the southern, for Union South, are they fixed tolls?  Or are they tolls that change over time?  Just give me a high sense what is the split we're talking about.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHORTS:  There are a number of them.  I would say the majority of the contracts you see on that list will be fixed for the time period from which they are effective.

So, for example, the Vector contract, that has a fixed toll.  So if you look at line 29, we had spoken about the -- well, let's go to 27 because it is in dekatherms.  We had spoken about how that is a combination for 1 for 85 and whatever the difference is.  Can't do the math, as you well know.  I'm speaking round numbers here.

And if you look at -- if you look at that, for example, the Vector part of that is a fixed toll until 2020.  The smaller portion of that is a fixed toll until 2017, because it was only a three-year contract.

For example, Panhandle, certain one of those contracts is long-term.  In other words, it's fixed rate.  Very few of the U.S. pipelines, I would say, are going to be based on the recourse rate.  Most of them that we have are fixed rates on the U.S. side versus -- because we have negotiated those contracts.  The Vector one, for example, along with the Alliance was 15 -- depending on -- 15 or 20 years in nature, depending on which one.

The other contracts that we have tend to be shorter, three -- two, three years.  But those tolls are fixed for those terms for the most part.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  Let me ask about Rover for a minute.  There was some discussion with Mr. Quinn about it.  And my understanding is they filed with FERC, and I think the language you were using earlier on -- and I'm just summarizing, here -- was that it's a producer-led initiative.  That's really what is pushing this pipeline through?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  I'm not aware of any end users or demand markets that have contracted on Rover.  It is all suppliers, supplier push.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, there was some discussion also about what happens if the Board does not provide approval of this cost consequences, and your position was Union won't go through and sign, signing the Nexus agreement.

And what I understood from your response of why that is the case is you thought it would be harmful -- and I assume it would be if Enbridge and Union didn't get approval for their cost consequences -- that producers would not see that there's a demand for this gas, and they're less likely to produce.  Is that...

MR. SHORTS:  Not less likely to produce, but they have options, and there is competition to take that Marcellus Utica supply to other markets.  So they may not choose to come forward to Dawn.

We worked for the last couple of years educating a lot of those producers on the benefits of Dawn, and for that matter, even the Rover shippers, we spent considerable time with them because we didn't know who was going to -- who was going to be who.  We blanketed as many of the shippers in that area to try and educate them on the benefits of coming to Dawn.

So the expectation would be that, if Union didn't go forward, and Enbridge, that that would not only send a negative market signal to the remaining Nexus shippers who are producers, but it would also send a negative market signal to the Rover producer shippers who, in and of themselves, again aren't really familiar with Dawn, other than what we have tried to educate them on and aren't comfortable, at least at this point in time, or haven't been dealing in Canada.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, help me understand.  If Rover is a pipeline that is even further ahead right now than Nexus and it actually has no downstream users and it's being pushed by producers, why would a Board decision that says, "You can do what you want, but we're not going to give you pre-approval," why would that cause such an effect on the market?

MR. SHORTS:  You have to look -- they are not familiar with the Dawn market.  We've been trying to educate them on that.  They see us as the experts on Dawn.

If we were to not go forward and the Board didn't endorse more supply to Dawn, then they could possibly see that as a negative market signal and question their own participation in Rover, in Nexus.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, is that just your guess, or has anyone said that to you, or where are you drawing that from?

MR. SHORTS:  From our meetings with producers.  They are very hesitant on coming to Dawn and very hesitant coming to Canada, especially those that do not have a Canadian arm or an operation.  They are very concerned, and we have gone to great lengths to try and educate them on that because, left unto their own fruition, very few of them, from our conversations, would come to Dawn.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But if the Board does not provide you with preapproval, that doesn't stop you from still signing the agreement.  I mean, to them, I assume they want the Nexus agreement signed.  In fact, if the cost consequences are preapproved or not preapproved, that is immaterial to them.

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, who wants -- I mean --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The producers.

MR. SHORTS:  The producers would want to see the project go forward.  But if they saw an anchor shipper like Union that's coming to Dawn not go forward and sign the agreement, then they could look to see -- they would look upon that as a negative market signal and potentially put their participation in question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No.  But I'm trying to understand why, if you don't have preapproval, why you still will not sign the agreement.

MR. SHORTS:  Because of the significant -- as we talked about, because of the significant investment and the significant risk going forward of looking after the fact to see whether or not it actually was a good deal.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me, lastly, ask you some questions about Niagara that were talked about a lot at the beginning of the day.

And from what I understood, we had a lot of talk about liquidity and the importance of liquidity.  I want to understand, from a practical perspective, what that means, a lack of liquidity at Dawn -- I mean, sorry, at Niagara for Ontario users.  Can you help me understand?

MR. SHORTS:  Certainly.  Lack of liquidity at a non‑liquid trading point would mean you would have fewer counter parties to deal with.  You would expect, then, the competition to not be as great.

We have seen, in the answers to Enbridge interrogatories, the challenges they had to try and procure their 200,000 large volume at Niagara.  They were originally looking at that to be more short‑term nature, but producers weren't willing to sell them seasonal supply.  They wanted to lock up an annual supply at a minimum, and, therefore, from an economics perspective, they -- most of those producers have taken capacity to get to places like Dawn.  That's where they want to be selling at because that's where the liquidity is.  That's where there are more buyers for them to sell their gas into.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, what happens if Union or Enbridge -- but, speaking for yourself, Union -- went upstream of Niagara?

MR. SHORTS:  If we went upstream of Niagara?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, we're talking about buying at Niagara.  What about procuring gas upstream of Niagara?

MR. SHORTS:  It's something that, you know, we could potentially do.  We have 100,000 of capacity that we will be looking to potentially fill between now and 2017, and we will be looking at all the options, including upstream of Niagara, including at Niagara, if there is capacity available.

It really comes down to whether or not there is capacity available and whether or not the terms and the rates on that are acceptable and within the realm of reasonableness from our other options.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But when you were determining what to do with the capacity that you're now seeking approval for through the Nexus, did you look upstream of Niagara?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, we have to go back to the timeline.

So if we go back to the time period we were -- that was in question, we were looking at a time period of November of 2009-2010.  We hadn't made a decision on whether or not we were going to be continuing on with our Alliance contract.  We gave that election at the end of November, in 2010.

There was uncertainty around the ability to be able to move volumes past Parkway, so Marcellus and Utica volumes past Parkway.  It wasn't until the settlement agreement was agreed to and confirmed by the NEB.  That was in late 2013.

We went in and committed to -- into the open season, in 2012, for Nexus.  It was at the time the only large infrastructure project coming into Dawn, directly into Dawn, that would help to increase the liquidity at Dawn.

Upstream of Niagara wasn't necessarily doing that for us.  The upstream of Niagara potentially could have, you know -- as producers were looking upstream of Niagara, they had already contracted for that capacity upstream of Dawn, or upstream of Niagara.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you did look, but there was a lack of capacity?

MR. SHORTS:  What we did was, from a timeline perspective, we had Marcellus.  We weren't sure.  We couldn't make a large commitment in the time period in which those open seasons were being held because we did not know whether or not we were going to have to fill our Alliance contract.  We did not know whether or not we were going to have assurance to be able to take volumes through to our northern service territory until the settlement agreement came in.

So now we're talking about 2012-2013, when all of that became more clear, and at that point in time, we had committed to the Nexus volume, and, therefore, we were starting the negotiations directly after we got into the open season in late November of 2012.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, there's a number of -- I think it is in TCPL 8.  There is a number of presentations I guess they provided to you, selling you on why Niagara is the place to be, I guess.

Can you just talk about I guess why you didn't agree with their view about why you should be buying at Niagara?

MR. SHORTS:  We did agree with their view.  We did commit to 20,000 at Niagara in 2010.  We did commit to 20,000, but we couldn't commit to a large number because we were looking for a project that was going to be new greenfield to Dawn to help enhance the liquidity of Dawn.  And that was what we were looking to do when we didn't have that ability in 2010 until we made the Alliance election and also had assurance that we could get volumes through to Union north, which didn't come about until the settlement agreement was approved in late 2013.

By that time, those open seasons had come and gone.  Niagara was already developing.  It's already developed.  So there was no need for Union to have to go in and commit to it.  It was already being developed.  And, therefore, those volumes were already basically committed to come into Ontario.

So what we said was we can look at Nexus as an alternative not in replacement of Niagara, but in addition to Niagara.  So we were able to commit to a large infrastructure project that can bring now, you know, up to 1 Bcf of incremental supply into Dawn directly in addition to the 1.4 that's already committed, already developing, and will be coming in at Niagara.  So it's not -- again, it is not Nexus or Niagara.  It's Niagara and Nexus.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  And just going, circling back to the relief in this application, you're seeking the cost consequences of the full 158,000 gJs per day, and if you do not get that, what you were saying is you will not commit to the Nexus agreement.  Is there a point where the Board can say, "We will provide you with preapproval of a level of cost consequences that is below 158,000 gJs per day where you will still commit to the Nexus agreement"?

MR. SHORTS:  We will have to look at the decision from this application and decide, but right now we are not committing -- we would not commit to a project of this size going forward.  And if we don't commit as an anchor shipper, that means our costs are going to go up, and potentially we could put the entire project in jeopardy if we weren't taking on a commitment at least equal to what we have today.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.

Up next we have TCPL.
Examination by Mr. Ross:

MR. ROSS:  Good afternoon.

Just following up on your discussion with Mr. Rubenstein where he laid out the scenario that the Board may not approve the consequences or the price consequences of the Nexus contract and Union was to decide not to proceed with the contract, wouldn't your logical next step be to approach those Rover shippers who have capacity to Dawn and try to make a deal with them?

MR. SHORTS:  Assuming Rover was still going forward?

MR. ROSS:  Yes.

MR. SHORTS:  It would be a possibility.  We would look at all of the available options, if that was not the case, whether it be Rover or whether it be Niagara.  We would look at all our available options and then make a decision as to where we would replace that potential Nexus volume.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  Now, I just wanted to try to understand the plumbing around -- in and around Kensington a little better.  Kensington is the starting point of Nexus.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  It's the starting point of the greenfield portion of Nexus.  The actual project, due to the connection to the TETCO OPEN and TEAL project, actually goes all the way down to Clarington, but we have not taken capacity there.  We take our capacity starting at Kensington and coming to Willow Run.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  I am going to get into the TEAL and other things a bit later.  And Kensington is in Ohio?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. ROSS:  Is that correct?  Now, Enbridge had in their evidence -- and I think Sussex mentioned the -- that the Kensington receipt point is at the outlet of a gas -- major gas processing plant?

MR. SHORTS:  One of the -- Kensington is a gas processing plant, and one of the connections will be the outlet of the gas processing plant.

MR. ROSS:  And what is the status of that plant?  Is it operating now?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that plant is operating now.  I believe it is -- it's at about capacity of around 600,000 dekatherms a day, and the expansion tranches are planned to be, as I mentioned, 1.1 by the time the Nexus project is completed.

MR. ROSS:  I'm just reading -- I am just looking at the Sussex portion here on page 11.  Are you there?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. ROSS:  So they mention, in the middle paragraph there, that there was a processing plant came into service in July 2013, provided 200 million a day of processing capacity.  And then two additional trains recently entered service and provided an aggregate of 600.  So that is the 600 you're talking about?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  Now, there is also a mention of a Utica east Ohio processing project.  Is Kensington part of that?  Or is there a big conglomerate of processing plants there or...

MR. SHORTS:  There is a large number of processing plants in that entire general area, but from the perspective of Kensington, our understanding is that the processing capacity at Kensington and through Kensington will be approximately 1.1 Bcf a day.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  Because it says below there:

"The Utica east Ohio processing project, including the Kensington processing plant, will have a gas processing capacity of over 1.1 Bcf a day."

So it is all one big massive processing --


MR. SHORTS:  That's my understanding.  It is one big massive processing...

MR. ROSS:  When do they expect to have that fully completed up to 1.1?  Do you know?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't see -- I recall it being around the same time as Nexus, because, again, that is one of the reasons that the Nexus is going to be there is to give an outlet to that -- to that facility.

MR. ROSS:  So if that does come to fruition, that's still a little bit less than the Nexus capacity of 1.5?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct, yes.  The processing plant itself will be less, but the connection to Tennessee and Texas Eastern's projects will make up -- more than make up the difference to the 1.5.

MR. ROSS:  Now, I know Enbridge in their testimony mentioned 1.4 miles of new pipeline that will be constructed in order to interconnect with the Texas Eastern and Tennessee's systems.  Are you aware of that?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  There would be short laterals at the beginning of Kensington to attach to the various -- to Tennessee, to Texas Eastern, and to the plant itself.

MR. ROSS:  And so -- and is Nexus constructing those pipelines?

MR. SHORTS:  The capacity on the -- the cost of those lines potentially is being built by Texas Eastern, but it's being leased back through the TEAL project for anything upstream of the Kensington location.  I don't know exactly how that -- within that one- or two-mile radius, I'm not sure exactly how that plumbing and who is responsible for each.

MR. ROSS:  So you're not sure if the cost of that plumbing is included in the Nexus rate or not?

MR. SHORTS:  We -- the delivery point that we have at Kensington will be -- has covered off the ability for us to gain volumes through the connections at Tennessee as well as Texas Eastern.  So regardless of who is paying for them, our rate currently allows us to access suppliers that are on Tennessee, Texas Eastern, through the OPEN or TEAL project as well as the processing plant.

MR. ROSS:  For no additional cost?

MR. SHORTS:  For no additional cost.

MR. ROSS:  So you basically -- how far is it from Texas Eastern to Kensington roughly?  And is that the TEAL project you're talking about?

MR. SHORTS:  So, if you go to the previous page, page 10 of Sussex's report, you will see the map.

MR. ROSS:  Yes.

MR. SHORTS:  So you'll see the TETCO OPEN.

MR. ROSS:  Yes.

MR. SHORTS:  The TETCO OPEN are the greenfield facilities that are attaching the Texas Eastern mainline at Clarington to Kensington.  And then the TEAL is really the lease that Nexus is taking on to have access to that capacity down to Clarington.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  So you're saying that Nexus is taking on capacity from Clarington to Kensington, and that's included -- the cost of that is included in the tolls that you are asking for approval of on Nexus?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, our toll is from Kensington forward.  So we would be purchasing gas at Kensington.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  So who is going to pay for the cost from Clarington to Kensington?

MR. SHORTS:  There are other shippers who have contracted for capacity on that system.

MR. ROSS:  And do you think -- well, maybe just stepping back a little bit, can you show me on the map, this map or any other map, where the Dominion South Point is roughly? [Witness panel confers]


MR. SHORTS:  We're trying to see if we have the map, but...

MR. ROSS:  Yeah, I didn't see any maps showing that in your evidence.  And I was looking at this, and I don't see it there, either.  [Witness panel confers]


MR. SHORTS:  Yeah, I don't think we have the map.  And to tell you the truth, so I believe it is certainly east of that, east of the -- east of the Kensington TETCO OPEN Clarington area, but to say exactly where it is, I don't know if it's -- I believe it's still within the Ohio border, but...

MR. ROSS:  I understand that it's in Pennsylvania, but I'm not exactly sure where.

MR. SHORTS:  It would be very close to the -- all that area is, we're talking, 30 miles or so.

MR. ROSS:  Is it fair to say that, if somebody is selling gas at Dominion South point and they're asked to deliver that gas at Kensington, that they're probably going to look to recover the cost of getting from Dominion South to Kensington?

MR. SHORTS:  There very well could be costs.  It would depend on what the differentials are within the market would dictate.

Like any transportation capacity, over some periods of time, the transportation capacity will have its value, as we have been discussing with producers and with suppliers and with the consultants.  Their expectation is all of the points in that general area will tend to gravitate over time to the Dominion South point price.

MR. ROSS:  Yes.  But if I'm a producers and I can get a Dominion South price at east of Clarington somewhere on Dominion Pipeline or Dominion Transmission, wouldn't you say, if you were a producer, you would want to recover the cost of getting from Clarington to Kensington?

MR. SHORTS:  If they could.  In other words, if the market was saying that the value is zero between of those two points, then you wouldn't recover that cost.

We have many times where the difference between Chicago and Dawn is zero and the value of the pipe is zero.  And if you want to sell your gas at Dawn for one price and they'll sell it at Chicago for another, you potentially won't get anything for that capacity.

MR. ROSS:  So in this case, if you thought that were to be the case, you would not want to be purchasing transportation from Clarington somewhere else, if you didn't think you could recover the costs.  Is that fair to say?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, all the shippers on there will have rationale as to why they want to contract for capacity on the pipe to get to a various delivery point or receipt point, and those would be -- those would be different for every supplier.

MR. ROSS:  I think the number one rationale would be to see if you can get more for your product, wouldn't it?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  I think the number one rationale is to sell your product for these guys for the most part.  They want to be able to find a market, find an acceptable market, and they will contract accordingly.

MR. ROSS:  Do you know what the capacity is on the TEAL system from Clarington to Kensington?

MR. SHORTS:  I believe the lease is $950,000 a day.

MR. ROSS:  And is that south to north or north to south, or does it go both ways?

MR. SHORTS:  The TETCO OPEN project provides north to south.  The TEAL project is south to north, if my direction is right.  My wife says I'm pretty directionally challenged, so...

MR. ROSS:  Could be it be east to west?  No, just kidding

MR. SHORTS:  Don't add another direction.

MR. ROSS:  And you say the TEAL and OPEN project are owned by Texas Eastern?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. ROSS:  Now, could I turn you to TCPL 4, where we referred you to a pie chart at Exhibit A, page 20.

And we asked you to -- we didn't actually ask you to update the pie chart, but we asked you to provide the portfolio to Union North and Union South for each of the November 2015, November 2016, November 2017 years.  And then you referred us back to the response to Board Staff 12, where we have a myriad of contracts.  And we were just wondering if you would provide us with the pie charts that go along with those transportation contracts for each of the delivery areas in the north.

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, when you say for each of -- do you mean the north in general or for each of the -- I didn't quite get the last little nuance you said.

MR. ROSS:  Each of the northern delivery areas, so WDA, NDA, NCDA, and EDA.

MR. SHORTS:  So you're saying have a separate pie chart for each delivery area?

MR. ROSS:  Yes.

MR. SHORTS:  Sure.  Yes, we could do a -- I mean, the western -- the pie chart will show, for the WDA, the NDA, and the Sault, et cetera, will be all one colour, and the NCDA and the NDA and the EDA will be a balanced pie chart, a more balanced pie chart.  Is that --


MR. ROSS:  Yes, that is what I expect.

MR. SHORTS:  Because we're making the change to amalgamate those zones, can we show it as the new northeast zone that we have and the northwest zone?  Those are going to be the two new zones from a rate-making perspective that we're going to be --


MR. ROSS:  So the northeast being -- is it the NDA and the EDA?

MR. SHORTS:  And the NCDA, yes.  That will be that one -- one delivery zone from a rates perspective.  And the other one would be the northwest zone.

MR. ROSS:  I think that would be okay.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. ROSS:  For each of the three years.

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry?

MR. ROSS:  For each of the three years, '15, '16, '17.

MR. GILLETT:  And the source data is going to be that Board Staff 12, just for clarification?

MR. ROSS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  Union to provide the pie charts that go along with those transportation contracts for each of the delivery areas in the north

MR. ROSS:  Now, a little while ago you had a chat with Mr. Quinn and maybe Mr. Wolnik about capacity on Nexus to Dawn, and I think you said it was about 800 million a day in total?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. ROSS:  And of that Union would be 150?

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. ROSS:  And Enbridge would be 110?

MR. SHORTS:  Mixing a little bit of dekatherms versus gJs, but close enough, yes.

MR. ROSS:  So that is a total of 260.  So that would leave 540 for the other parties contracted to Dawn?

MR. SHORTS:  Close.  Subject to check.

MR. ROSS:  Yes.  Just round --


MR. SHORTS:  My math is --


MR. ROSS:  -- numbers.  So do you know the capacities that each of those shippers have to Dawn?

MR. SHORTS:  No.

MR. ROSS:  You don't.  But the sum of the group of them -- I think there's three -- probably would be the 540 approximately?

MR. SHORTS:  The three that we know of, yes.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  That's all I have.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.

Randy, are you ready to go?
Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  I am.  I just have a few follow-up questions just on what Murray asked you about the 800 and the 540 and from what you had talked about earlier today.  Am I correct that not -- the 540 would not necessarily all end up going to Dawn?  Some of it could end up in -- stopping in Michigan?

MR. SHORTS:  The 540 is capacity that they have executed under a precedent agreement that is destined for Dawn.

MR. AIKEN:  Oh, it is for Dawn?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then I wanted to follow up on the response to BOMA 29.  About halfway through the answer you talk about, you know, if a direct purchase customer wishes to deliver gas through Niagara to Kirkwall, they can do that.  Is anybody doing that now, any direct purchase customer that you are aware of that is doing that?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHORTS:  Don't know for sure, but not aware of any that are doing that now.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And in that response you also talk about the Parkway delivery obligation, and so that got me to thinking.  You've talked about how Niagara is not a liquid trading point.  How would you rank Niagara versus Parkway in terms of liquidity?  Are they similar?

MR. SHORTS:  Parkway has not been shown to be a liquid trading point either.

MR. AIKEN:  So they're both --


MR. SHORTS:  They would be similar.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  They don't possess the key traits that define a liquid trading hub.  That's why customers didn't want to continue to be required to purchase and deliver their volumes there.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  There's been a lot of talk about Niagara, even though this is for a project that has got nothing to do with Niagara -- or not a project, but a contract, as Mr. Keizer is nodding yes in agreement.

And my question is simply this:  Is your view that the 1.4 PJs, I think it is, that is coming in through Niagara, that's the capacity of the system?  So at this point, even if you wanted to bring in more gas there, you could not do so until somebody comes forward with a project to get more gas to, though, and away from Niagara.  Is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So then kind of a summarizing question:  Is it your view that the Nexus project, through the enhanced liquidity at Dawn, will benefit system and direct purchase customers in both Union North and Union South as well as ex-franchise customers?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  It will benefit everyone who transacts at Dawn from a purchase perspective.

MR. AIKEN:  And do you agree that the costs of this project will be borne by a subset of those customers, being the system gas customers?

MR. SHORTS:  The commitment that Union is making, those costs will go to sales service customers only.

MR. AIKEN:  And those are sales service customers in both Union North and South?

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Randy.

Mark?
Examination by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I think I may be the last in this pleasant experience, so I will try and be the shortest.

First of all, I would like you to go to Staff 5 and with some apologies.  You've addressed this question a number of times.  This is really the question about whether Staff asked you as to whether the Board's approval of Nexus and/or your involvement in Nexus would the project proceed or not.  And you've talked a number of times around that, but I've never heard a clear response, and I don't see one here, which is, if Union Gas withdraws from the Nexus project, is it your understanding that that project would not proceed in front of FERC, would be withdrawn, would change?

What's the role of Union in that project's viability?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, Union -- I might get the number right this time -- being 10 percent of the greenfield portion, a much higher portion, because I haven't done the math of the 150 to the 760 coming in at Dawn, but our expectation is that, if Union was not to go forward, that it would send a serious market signal to other shipper -- potential shippers and that there could be a ripple effect, and those customers would not continue on with their contract either.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  I have heard you say that before, but what I am trying to understand is:  Has Nexus indicated to you in any way that they would withdraw their application from FERC that they intend to file if you do not proceed?

MR. SHORTS:  The only thing they have said is that, as it stands today, they have enough capacity committed to go forward.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So basically you're speculating that, if Union were not part of the project, that the project may be in jeopardy and somehow -- but you have no direct evidence of that?  That's not what they've told you?

MR. SHORTS:  They have not told us that, and we just base that based on our history of dealing with producers in that region for the last two years, trying to convince them to come to Dawn, and it's not been an easy sell.

MR. GARNER:  Sure.  Thank you.  I just wanted to be clear about that.

The next question I have is in regards to Staff 7, and this really is about Rover, and I want to just talk about the Rover pipeline, because I'm a little bit confused as we went through today.  Am I correct in looking at the table that is attached to this response that what the table is telling us is that the -- and I am looking at the very last column, the savings over the 15 years of the term.  What the table is telling us is that the Rover project is -- delivers basically a benefit pretty much in the same range as the Nexus project.  I mean, you have a range for the Nexus project based on a couple of variables, but it is pretty much in that same range of benefits.  Is that what the table is showing me?

MR. SHORTS:  You also have to look at the asterisk around Rover, because we're using the indicative negotiated rate of 80 cents that, if we had not committed up front to a longer-term contract, we would not have been able to be a negotiated rate shipper.  We would have had to have settled on the recourse rate.  The recourse rate will be a cost of service rate.  It will be impacted by, potentially, any cost overruns or capacity undersubscriptions that would and could increase that rate.  So whereas the range of Nexus rates is known, that Rover number is just an estimate.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Help me with that because I'm a little bit confused.

Let's just say for a minute the Nexus project doesn't proceed and there are -- as I've heard this morning, there are shippers on the Rover line who will deliver gas into Dawn.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  There are Rover shippers who have contracted for capacity to be delivered at Dawn.

MR. GARNER:  And I guess theoretically you could purchase your supply from those producers off Rover, could you not?

MR. SHORTS:  If the market was such that they chose to actually deliver those volumes to Dawn.  There is no guarantee that those shippers, even though they have the capacity contracted, would actually move that volume -- move those volumes to Dawn.  We have seen that many times, where committed people have a pipeline capacity but they don't actually deliver at the full length.

For example, the markets that that Rover also accesses, which is the Gulf, tends to be higher.  You have to recall that Rover, first phase, is getting to the Gulf.  Using the Trunkline capacity that they have, that's their main prerogative.  The shippers that contracted on there for Rover, that was their main goal was to start off to get to that point.

MR. GARNER:  But now -- but then, if they did do what you're suggesting, then the capacity they abandon, so to speak, would be available for someone else to -- presumably they want to resell it and sell it to someone else who would bring shipped gas from Marcellus into Dawn.  Would -- that same capacity would exist.  It wouldn't disappear.

MR. SHORTS:  Well, the full capacity wouldn't exist because, assuming they chose to take their capacity to another market, you would then be forced at a different point to then pick up that capacity because they would use that capacity, theoretically, to go to another market.  So part of that path would already be contracted for.  They would use that path, but they wouldn't use the full path to Dawn.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And you wouldn't know which part -- and so part of it may be, part of it wouldn't be, and that would depend on who they were selling to and where.  I see.

MR. SHORTS:  Which market they were going after, yes.

MR. GARNER:  And, therefore, what you're suggesting is that the Nexus project provides you more certainty because you have purchased the full path and you don't have that uncertainty.  Is that --


MR. SHORTS:  Correct.  We will purchase the full path, and we will be delivering 100 percent load factor at those volumes.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  That's helpful.

If you could pull up CME 5, which I believe is 303 on the PDF.

And I was -- can you help me understand the response to this question.  As I understood the question, it is basically asking, if the capacity you were seeking to have the Board preapprove isn't used, there wouldn't be any cost consequence, and I don't understand.  If you're contracting and for some reason -- and to make an obvious example, there's no gas to take out of Marcellus, aren't you at risk for UDC on that pipe?  So there is a risk to you if you can't fulfil your capacity to use your capacity.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  The question is related to the Nexus pipeline being underutilized.

MR. GARNER:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHORTS:  It's not -- in total, it is not necessarily Union's capacity being underutilized.  What we're saying is that, if, for example, the capacity only flows at 50 percent on Nexus, because our rate is fixed and not the recourse rate, we would not be subject to any further costs.  Our cost is known.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  But then you would agree with me that you do have a risk, if you can't get supply or for some reason that supply becomes non-economical in the future, and, therefore, you have capacity you can't utilize?  You have some risk on that pipe?

MR. SHORTS:  That is why we have done the studies we have done, and we have seen the development of Utica and Marcellus vastly eclipse everybody's estimation at every possible update.  We have no concerns about not being able to fill that pipe with the Utica gas.

MR. GARNER:  Then let me ask you about that, because, yes, I mean, I've read the Sussex report and clearly there's been quite a transformation in that basin.  And you would agree with me, over the last five years, it's completely changed from the past.  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.  We -- again, another one of those underforecasting scenarios.  You know, everybody was saying it would probably be 18 Bcf a day by the end of this year.  Well, it's been over 20 Bcf for probably the last month and a half.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  But unlike the last market you were incurring most of your gas from, which was out West, the Canadian market, that market is also -- has a number of different demands from the American East Coast, doesn't it?

MR. SHORTS:  Those demands are -- they have challenges in getting that capacity to the East Coast.  I mean, this project is in competition with other projects.  That's one of the reasons why -- for us to be able to support the Nexus project to try and draw that gas to Dawn rather than having it go to those other markets.

MR. GARNER:  So you don't think that there is a risk inherent in the relative newness of this market that you haven't -- you haven't experienced in the past in a more mature market like the Western Canadian basin market?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  I would say what we're seeing here is unprecedented growth.  And, you know, we're seeing a basin that within -- since 2008 has eclipsed the Western Canadian sedimentary basin at its peak already and, by all accounts, you know, that is expected to continue to increase over time.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.

This morning you had a prolonged conversation with Mr. Quinn about facility building on the Dawn system and its relationship to this contract.  And as I understood you, you said there is no relationship between those two.  Is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  There is no relationship regardless of Nexus.  That capacity will continue to be built whether it's purchased at Dawn or purchased upstream of Dawn.

MR. GARNER:  Well, help me understand that in this way.  Where you procure your gas from in a physical sense and where it is delivered to in a physical sense, does that not impact the facilities that you build on that system in some way?

MR. SHORTS:  Over time, we had the Parkway obligation, which had volumes being delivered at the east end of the system.  Customers have said they do not want to continue essentially paying for a reinforcement project through their gas supply.

So we have worked with them to come up with an agreement to migrate them towards Dawn, which is what they have chosen to do.

It would not be, essentially, fair or equitable to continue to have the sales service portfolio having to purchase or buy gas at a place like either Parkway or Niagara just so that everybody else could have the ability to move back to Dawn.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And I don't want to pursue this much further than this, but your responsibility is for gas supply.  That's correct.  Right?

MR. SHORTS:  Our responsibility is to ensure that our customers get the gas supply they need at a prudently incurred and reasonable cost.

MR. GARNER:  Yes.  And I was thinking you particularly because what I am really trying to understand is:  Is there ever a conversation that goes on between yourself in charge of gas procurement and the facilities people in charge of moving gas along the system as you went through this process with Nexus?   Did you have those conversations?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, it didn't impact the Nexus decision.  We had decided that we were going to increase the ability of customers to access Dawn, and that decision was made, and the facilities to support that were proposed in the 2015, 2016 and 2017 Dawn to Parkway applications.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, but that's --


MR. SHORTS:  Whether or not it was going upstream of Dawn or at Dawn was irrelevant from that facilities perspective.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  But if I understand what you said, and correct me if I'm wrong, but your answer is, yes, you did have conversations with the facilities people as you went through the development of the Nexus contract.

You say they didn't impact them.  That's what I heard you say, but what I kind of took from what you said is, yes, you had these conversations.  They didn't impact what you were going to do.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  There was no need to have those discussions.  We talked to the facilities folks on an ongoing basis, because what they will do is determine, through their supply planning, whether we have to reduce something different than what we do, which is try to buy gas on an average day basis for Union South at 100 percent load factor and buy it predominantly either at Dawn or upstream of Dawn.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

Did you have conversations within the utility about the Rover -- using Rover as opposed -- well, before Nexus even, as a supply route out of the Marcellus basin?

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, you said Rover before Nexus?

MR. GARNER:  Yes.  Before you were considering Nexus, did you have conversations about the Rover project at all?  Was that part of your supply planning discussions?

MR. SHORTS:  The Rover project didn't come to fruition until a year and a half after we had already gone into the Nexus open season and had negotiations towards the precedent agreement.

MR. GARNER:  I see.  Okay.  Thank you.  That's very helpful.

I think that, after everything is said and done today, I think that is the last of my questions that have not been covered.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.

Actually, I think we have a couple of quick questions from Staff and Mr. Schuch.
Examination by Mr. Schuch:

MR. SCHUCH:  Yes I will be mercifully short.

This morning there was something that piqued my curiosity.  It was APPrO 2, and there was a discussion -- there was a bunch of charts in APPrO 2.  And it piqued my curiosity because some of these charts -- for example, on page 4, there's the TransCanada chart that's showing negative flow out of Dawn.  And I realized that around that time, in early 2014, there was the polar vortex and that, you know, there was unusual demands on the system.

But I was wondering if you could comment on why -- why does gas back-haul out of Dawn, I guess, westward when normally we would consider gas during that time of year flowing eastward?

MR. SHORTS:  TransCanada has an integrated system, so they can essentially move volumes westerly to meet the needs of their integrated system.  So it could be the old saying we call "around the horn," so they could be actually moving volumes back in westerly to serve markets down east going over top of the lake.  They have that capability to take about up to 500 a day back into Great Lakes.

MR. SCHUCH:  So presumably they would have the capability to reverse flow on the Great Lakes line?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  We can push up to 500 a day into the Great Lakes line, or into TransCanada, who then can push volumes into the Great Lakes line.

MR. SCHUCH:  So would the same be true of the PEPL Ojibway where we see negative -- sorry, we don't see negative flow there, but I saw it on Enbridge, for instance.  Bluewater --


MR. SHORTS:  Bluewater can flow in both directions.  Enbridge is -- we're talking injections and withdrawals from storage is what that signifies for the Enbridge chart.

MR. SCHUCH:  Okay.  I just wondered if this situation is an anomaly that happens only once every so often, like, for example, during the polar vortex demand, or is this something you see on a regular basis?

MR. SHORTS:  Certainly the TransCanada we have been seeing it more often.  That only commenced -- I'm not sure how many years ago we put in those facilities to allow for that to go in reverse.

MR. TETREAULT:  We developed a service for TransCanada's request -- I want to say it was 2010 -- that would allow them to deliver gas back into their own system at Dawn and then further on into Great Lakes across the border, so roughly five years ago.

MR. SCHUCH:  Okay.  Thank you.  I just wondered if, in the instance that we implement the Nexus contracts going forward, would you expect to see this situation of back-flowing continue, or would there be anything in the new world of Nexus that would speak to that not happening anymore?

MR. SHORTS:  TransCanada could very well in the operation of the integrated system want to take those volumes back into Great Lakes.

MR. TETREAULT:  I would agree.  This flow pattern could certainly continue.  You have seen that at other locations as well.

Kirkwall was an export point for us for a very long time and then has become an import point more recently.  Parkway has worked the same way in the past where you could count on exporting gas in the winter and importing it in the summer, and that has changed as well.  So the flows are -- the flows on a number of different areas on the system are very dynamic.

MR. SCHUCH:  Does that speak to the liquidity of the system in any way, or is liquidity of the market -- rather, is that a concept that is completely not related to physical flows in that sense?

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know that I would necessarily say those things are related.  I think the flows reflect the services that customers require, and that can change over time regardless of the number of counterparties, the number of trades.

Those numbers could stay static, if you will, but what shippers need, what customers need, can change over time as other needs evolve.

MR. SCHUCH:  Okay.  Thank you.

I had -- turning now, I just had another question about the preapproval.  And the question I had is:  If the Board only preapproved the cost consequences of the greenfield portion of the pipeline -- and that is excluding the piece from, I think, Willow Run into Dawn, so only the greenfield portion -- would Union proceed with the precedent agreement?

MR. SHORTS:  The precedent agreement covers the entire path.  We don't split that up.  So we would see that as, both the greenfield request as well as the -- as that capacity as being part and parcel of the -- of one single request.

MR. SCHUCH:  Okay.  Thank you.

Oh, yes, one final question. if I could -- if you could -- I don't know that you need to turn up Union.Staff 7, but it's about the $700 million-plus in savings.

I am a little bit -- I'm still a little bit baffled as to why Enbridge is -- in their evidence is not identifying much, if any, savings, whereas Union Gas has identified about 700 million in savings associated with Nexus.

And I don't know if you are able to pull it up or if you have to, but Enbridge did explain in interrogatory Staff 6 that there is -- this is Enbridge speaking.  I don't know if you have it.

This was the interrogatory where Staff asked if Enbridge could explain the large discrepancy in the savings.  So we've got Union identifying 700 million and Enbridge basically saying that it's basically a wash, I think is what they're saying.

So in the response at paragraph 1, Enbridge is saying:
"It is the company's understanding that the estimated potential cost savings of over 700 million stated by Union is predominantly the result of the Nexus transportation capacity displacing more expensive Alliance Vector and TransCanada transportation capacity."

So I think Enbridge has done their analysis on a different basis, but I was wondering if you could help me understand how we might put Union on the same basis so that we could have an apples-to-apples comparison of the Nexus savings.

MR. SHORTS:  So, for the Union savings, it wasn't necessarily the difference in the transportation capacity, but the entire landed cost differential between those western Canadian supplies that were being transported under the Alliance contract and the TransCanada contract.  So it wasn't just transportation savings.  It brought in the gas supply portion as well for part of that savings.

So I don't know how Enbridge had done their savings to really make any comment on how to change our calculation, which is traditionally the way we would look at it from, you know, what is the landed cost of the transportation path you're following versus the transportation path that you're moving to.  That's how we make the evaluation is the entire landed cost scenario, and that's how we calculated the $700 million.

MR. SCHUCH:  Enbridge goes on to say -- thank you, by the way -- in paragraph 2:
"Enbridge has already incorporated changes to its natural gas transportation portfolio similar to the Union Gas change described above, which included the decontracting of capacity originating in western Canada on Alliance and TransCanada in addition to reducing peaking supplies.  The benefits related to these changes have been identified in other proceedings. "

So I am just left -- I am still left a little confused as to the differences.

MR. SHORTS:  Those gas cost savings were just a representation.  The $700 million on Union were just a representation of what the current capacities that will be replaced, what that would generate.  Whether those savings have been used in other -- for other reasons was not incorporated in that calculation. So, for example, the Alliance savings, that would have -- that would be very different because we don't, for example, have to take that capacity any further than Dawn like Enbridge would have to.

So, you know, they would have had to have used potentially those savings already to support their capacity on Union, M12 capacity, to get that gas to Enbridge.

MR. SCHUCH:  Okay.  I think I will just leave that for now, but thank you for your response.  I will go away and think about it somewhere.  That's it.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Schuch.

I think that is everyone.  Anyone else?  Anyone on the phone?

Okay.  That concludes the first day of the technical conference.  Thank you to the witnesses.  We are now done with Union, and we will be back tomorrow at 9:30 a.m. with Enbridge's witnesses.

MR. SCHUCH:  And I might add, just as an administrative note, I think we're moving to the other hearing room tomorrow.  We will be in the west room for those of us that are still going to be here.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thanks.

MR. QUINN:  Colin, this is Dwayne.  Just quickly:   That's not going to change the telephone number, I take it?

MR. SCHUCH:  No.  It will be the same dial-in number.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And then we are going to deal with the procedural issue, then, first, in terms of the -- whether Union is going to answer the interrogatories -- or the undertakings, excuse me?

MR. MILLAR:  Charles or Mark, can you respond to that?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, that is our understanding.

MR. MILLAR:  That was a yes if you didn't hear it, Dwayne.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's helpful.

MR. SCHUCH:  Will Union be physically present tomorrow?

MR. KEIZER:  No.

MR. SCHUCH:  No?

MR. QUINN:  So the answer will be conveyed to Board Staff?

MR. KEIZER:  The answer will be:  Are we going to give the undertaking?  And if it is part of the undertaking, then we would file it with the rest of the undertaking questions.  If we choose not to give the undertaking, we will explain why.

MR. SCHUCH:  Tomorrow?

MR. KEIZER:  Tomorrow.

MR. SCHUCH:  Somebody will be there or dial in?

MR. KEIZER:  I will be here or Karen will be here.  Union will be physically present; we just won't have the folks that were answering the questions today here.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Sorry, Charles.  I just wanted to get clarification.  That's great.  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We are adjourned.
--- Whereupon hearing adjourned at 4:33 p.m.
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